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§700 Eighth Amendment Proportionality and Excessive Fines, Generally

Supreme Court holds that forfeiture of entire amount of unreported cash violates the Excessive Fines Clause. (700) Defendant was convicted of attempting to leave the United States without reporting $357,144 in cash. There was no proof that the money was connected to any crime. In a 5-4 decision, the Supreme Court held that criminal forfeiture of the entire $357,144 under 18 U.S.C. §982(a)(1) violated the Excessive Fines Clause because the amount of a forfeiture cannot be “grossly dispro​portional to the gravity of the defendant’s offense,” and defendant’s only crime was a failure to report the otherwise legal possession of money. Emphasizing that §982(a)(1) is a criminal forfeiture statute plainly punitive in character, the Court found this forfeiture was a “fine” within the meaning of the Clause. The Court held that the cash was not an “instrumentality” of the crime of failure to report, and thus its forfeiture was not akin to civil forfeitures of “guilty property.” The Court identified two factors as “particularly relevant” to the excessiveness inquiry: (1) judicial defer​ence to legislative judgments about the appro​priate punishment for an offense; and (2) the standard of gross disproportionality articu​lated in the Court’s Cruel and Unusual Punish​ment Clause precedents. District court determi​nations of constitutional excessiveness will be reviewed de novo. Justices Kennedy, Rehnquist, O’Con​nor, and Scalia filed a vigor​ous dissent. U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S.321, 118 S.Ct. 2028 (1998). xe "U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S.321, 118 S.Ct. 2028 (1998)."
Supreme Court considers First and Eighth Amendment challenges to RICO forfeiture. (700) Petitioner, the owner of more than a dozen stores and theaters dealing in sexually explicit materials, was convicted of 17 ob​scenity counts and 3 counts of RICO. The obscenity counts, based on four maga​zines and three video tapes sold at several of peti​tioner's stores, served as the predicate to the RICO convictions. Petitioner received a six year prison term, a $100,000 fine and, under the RICO forfeiture provisions of 18 U.S.C. §1963, was ordered to forfeit his whole​sale and retail businesses and al​most $9 million acquired through racketeering activ​ity. In a 5-4 opinion, written by Justice Rehnquist, the Supreme Court rejected the claim that the RICO forfeiture or​der was an unconstitutional prior restraint on speech, but remanded the case to de​termine whether the forfeiture resulted in an excessive penalty under the Eighth Amend​ment's Excessive Fines Clause. Alexander v. U.S., 509 U.S. 544 (1993).xe "Alexander v. U.S., 509 U.S. 544 (1993)."
Supreme Court says forfeitures are subject to Eighth Amendment Ex​cessive Fines Clause. (700) Petitioner was con​victed of possessing cocaine with intent to distribute and sentenced to seven years im​prisonment. The government filed an in rem action under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(4) and (a)(7) seeking forfei​ture of petitioner's mobile home and auto body shop in which small quantities of drugs, paraphernalia and cash had been found in connection with the criminal drug case. Pe​titioner argued that forfeiture of the proper​ties vio​lated the Eighth Amendment. In an opinion authored by Justice Blackmun, the Supreme Court reversed the 8th Circuit and found that statu​tory in rem forfei​ture im​poses punishment and is subject to the limita​tions of the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amend​ment. The case was re​manded to the Court of Ap​peals to establish in the first instance the test for de​termining what is a con​stitutionally "excessive" forfei​ture. Austin v. U.S., 509 U.S. 602 (1993).xe "Austin v. U.S., 509 U.S.602 (1993)." 

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1First Circuit remands to district court for determination whether over $3 million forfeiture money judgment was so onerous as to deprive the defendant of her future ability to earn a living in violation of Eighth Amendment Excessive Fines Clause. (580, 700) Levesque pled guilty to federal drug charges, and agreed to forfeiture, including a vehicle and a money judgment in an amount to be determined by the Court. The government moved for a preliminary order of forfeiture, including a money judgment in the amount of $3,068,000. Levesque urged the court to reduce the amount of her forfeiture considering her relative culpability, what she earned from her role in the conspiracy, and her ability to pay in setting the forfeiture amount. She estimated she made a total of $37,284.08 from her illegal activities, and spent it primarily on living expenses for herself and her son and on an attempt to open a beauty salon. She conceded that the court could impose a forfeiture on one conspirator for the full foreseeable proceeds of the conspiracy, but argued that a reasonable money judgment would account for the net proceeds she derived from her role in the offense, as well as other mitigating factors. The district court rejected her objections and entered a preliminary order of forfeiture for the full $3,068,000. On appeal, Levesque argued, inter alia, that imposition of the forfeiture violated the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment. The court first held that the district court properly concluded that a forfeiture based on vicarious but foreseeable liability, rather than on a defendant's particular role in a conspiracy, is not “grossly disproportional,” in violation of the Excessive Fines Clause. The court was correct to the extent that the effect of a forfeiture on a particular defendant is not pertinent under the three-part test for gross disproportionality. However, the court said it also must consider whether forfeiture would deprive the defendant of his or her livelihood, a question separate from the three-part test which may require additional factual findings. Although the court did not define the contours of this inquiry, it noted that a defendant's inability to satisfy a forfeiture at the time of conviction, in and of itself, is not at all sufficient to render a forfeiture unconstitutional, nor is it even the correct inquiry. Thus, even if the defendant does not have sufficient funds to cover the forfeiture at the time of the conviction, the government may seize future assets to satisfy the order, and the Attorney General also could choose to remit a forfeiture on the grounds of hardship to the defendant. Nevertheless, it is not inconceivable that a forfeiture could be so onerous as to deprive a defendant of his or her future ability to earn a living, thus implicating the historical concerns underlying the Excessive Fines Clause. Thus, the court vacated the district court's forfeiture decision and remanded for further consideration by the district court. U.S. v. Levesque, 2008 WL 4742389 (1st Cir. 2008) (October 30, 2008).

First Circuit finds forfeiture for bulk cash smuggling under Patriot Act did not violate Eighth Amendment. (700) The defendant challenged the district court's forfeiture order in the amount of $114,948, arguing that it constituted an excessive fine in violation of the Eighth Amendment. He had checked two pieces of luggage on a flight departing from Puerto Rico. Jose was on his way to St. Maarten, Netherlands Antilles. Customs officers inspected his checked luggage and discovered bundles of cash wrapped in tissue paper hidden in a pair of sneakers and other bundles wrapped in carbon paper hidden inside a set of bed sheets. The officers approached the defendant and explained the currency reporting requirements for transported amounts in excess of $10,000. He declared verbally and in writing that he was in possession of $1,400, although in fact, additional cash on his person and in his luggage amounted to a $114,948. He explained that he had found the money while at a San Juan hotel when he saw someone throw a bag into a trash container, and he retrieved the bag, which contained the money. He also claimed that he was unaware of any reporting requirements. He ended up pleading guilty to failure to report the money, and the government sought forfeiture of all but $1,400, which the court granted. On appeal, the First Circuit considered whether the district court's forfeiture order constituted an excessive fine in violation of the Eighth Amendment, a claim not raised by the defendant in the district court. The court first found that the USA PATRIOT Act inserted a criminal forfeiture provision in 31 U.S.C. §5317(c)(1)(A) for property involved in a violation of 31 U.S.C. §5316 and also defined the new crime of “bulk cash smuggling” at 31 U.S.C. §5332, which criminalizes intentional concealment of more than $10,000 in currency to avoid reporting requirements when traveling to and from the United States (not the mere failure to file a report). It then considered and found that the forfeiture did not violate the Eighth Amendment. First, although the forfeiture order did constitute punishment, the statute was designed for persons such as the defendant. Second, the maximum Sentencing Guidelines sentence that could have been imposed on was 18 months' imprisonment and a fine of $30,000, and thus the forfeiture at issue here is less than four times the maximum fine allowable under the Guidelines. Third, the defendant's violation of the bulk cash smuggling statute constituted a significant harm. Finally, given the history behind the Excessive Fines Clause, the court considered whether the forfeiture in question would deprive the defendant of his livelihood, and found that since the money, by defendant's own admission, was not his own, was not related to efforts to maintain his livelihood. Thus, the court concluded that the defendant failed to show that there was error, much less error that was plain, in the district court’s order, and the amount of forfeiture simply was not grossly disproportional to the gravity of the defendant's offense. U.S. v. Jose, 2007 WL 2349359 (1st Cir. 2007) (August 17, 2007).

First Circuit finds that owners had actual knowledge of illegal drug use of their residence, and forfeiture of $33,000 equity did not violate Eighth Amendment. (560, 700) Defendant and his parents pled guilty to conspiracy to possess cocaine and cocaine base with the intent to distribute and certain of their property was ordered forfeited. The guilty plea agreements left the matter of forfeiture to be determined by the district judge. On appeal, the defendant claimed the evidence did not establish a sufficient connection between defendant’s parents’ residence and the offense. His mother argued that she and her husband were ignorant of any use of the residence in connection with drug dealing. A DEA agent had testified that the residence was used to store and package drugs and that drug-related telephone calls were made to the property, including a call to the property by the mother herself. (The parents argued that the agent did not have personal knowledge of packaging on the premises but relied only upon inferences from telephone calls). The parents further claimed they worked long hours every day at a family business and had no personal knowledge that the conspiracy used their home for drug activities, and that the house was commonly left open during the day so family members could visit the elderly grandmother who lived at the house. The district judge made no specific finding as to the parents' knowledge of the use of their property or whether the use of it for drug activity was foreseeable. The court of appeals noted that nothing in its case law said that personal knowledge of the property's use is required where the defendant is guilty of the offense; some decisions suggest that, at most, the use of the property must be foreseeable. The government argued tersely that the statute by its terms requires only that the defendant must be guilty of drug dealing and that the property be used to facilitate the offense. The court held that even an intermediate standard such as foreseeability would be unlikely to produce an outcome in the parents’ favor because there was evidence of their actual knowledge. Both parents also argued that the forfeiture was an excessive fine in violation of the Eighth Amendment, but the parents' equity in the house was about $33,000, the parents both pled to drug dealing in amounts that could easily have produced a much larger fine; and the house was used to facilitate drug dealing, regarded by Congress as a very serious crime with a comparably expansive forfeiture statute. The parents argued that the wholesale value of the drugs to which they directly admitted was less than their equity in the house; however, the court held that no cited authority treats that as the ceiling for a lawful fine, nor could the parents plausibly have believed that the conspiracy was limited to what they personally admitted. As for the claim of hardship, the court said that the Attorney General may choose to remit forfeiture on that ground but that is up to him. U.S. v. Ortiz-Cintron, 2006 WL 2457983 (1st Cir. 2006) (Aug 25, 2006).

First Circuit holds that forfeiture of defendant’s apartment did not violate the Eighth Amendment’s excessive fines clause. (700) Defendant, a New York dermatologist, wrote prescriptions for steroids and Oxycodone for a number of people, many of whom were bodybuilders and some of whom defendant had never seen or treated. In return, he received sexual favors from his “patients.” He was convicted of conspiracy to commit health care fraud, health care fraud, conspiracy to distribute drugs, and drug distribution. At sentencing, defendant was ordered to criminally forfeit his apartment residence for having facilitated his drug distribution offenses. The 1st Circuit found that evidence that all six of the drug offenses with which he was charged involved prescriptions written in his apartment, which served as a base of operations for his crime, was sufficient to support forfeiture of his apartment as having facilitated his drug distribution offenses within the meaning of the criminal forfeiture statute. Although defendant had about $900,000 equity in his residence, the guidelines provided for a penalty up to $6 million; thus, the forfeiture of his residence was not grossly disproportionate to the gravity of his offense and did not violate the Eighth Amendment’s excessive fines clause. Forfeiture affirmed. U.S. v. Heldeman, 402 F.3d 220 (1st Cir., 2005).

1st Circuit rules forfeiture of $138,794 for outbound currency violation was an excessive fine. (700) Defendant and a companion tried to fly from Puerto Rico to the Dominican Republic carrying a total of $138,794 concealed in their socks. They lied to Customs agents about the amount of money they were carrying, and were convicted of making false statements and of violating currency reporting rules. The cash was ordered criminally forfeited pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §982. Citing U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998) (holding that forfeiture of $357,144 for a currency reporting violation was “grossly disproportionate” to the offense, and therefore was an excessive fine), the First Circuit determined that the forfeiture was an excessive fine. The case was remanded to the district court to set a forfeiture amount not disproportional to the gravity of defendant’s offense. [Ed. Note: The First Circuit’s resolution of this case seems rather precipitous. The court assumes as a fact that defendant’s currency offenses were unrelated to any other wrongdoing, but if any record on this point was made below, the court does not mention it. The court determined as a matter of law that this forfeiture was constitu​tionally excessive, and then remanded to the trial judge with instructions to set a forfeiture amount based on factors such as the “the extent of the harm” caused by defendant. One would have thought that findings of fact on this point would be necessary before making the threshold finding of constitutional excessiveness.] U.S. v. Beras, 183 F.3d 22 (1st Cir. 1999).xe "U.S. v. Beras, 183 F.3d 22 (1st Cir. 1999)."
1st Circuit rules joint and several forfeiture liability against defendant with “minor role” not excessive fine. (700) A federal jury returned a criminal forfeiture verdict finding defendant and six co-defendants jointly and severally responsible for forfeiture of $6 million in drug proceeds. Defendant complained that because she was found for sentencing purposes to have played a “minor” role in the conspiracy, holding her jointly liable for the entire amount con​stituted an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. The First Circuit disagreed on three grounds: (1) The court relied on its opinion in U.S. v. Hurley, 63 F.3d 1, 23-24 (1st Cir. 1995), which held that imposition of joint and several forfeiture liability on a relatively minor partici​pant in a money laundering scheme for $140 million was not an excessive fine. (2) Even though defendant may have been a “minor participant” for purposes of the Federal Sentenc​ing Guidelines, her role was sufficiently sustained and pivotal to the success of the criminal enterprise that it was appropriate to hold her accountable. (3) Defendant did not actually challenge the entire $6 million forfeiture verdict, but only the forfeiture of one piece of property valued at $169,000; forfeiture of this smaller amount was certainly not “grossly disproportional” to her culpability. U.S. v. Candelaria-Silva, 166 F.3d 19 (1st Cir. 1999).xe "U.S. v. Candelaria-Silva, 166 F.3d 19 (1st Cir. 1999)."
1st Circuit denies Eighth Amendment challenge to forfeiture. (700) Claimant challenged the forfeiture of a boat and real property under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(6) as a violation of the excessive fines clause of the Eighth Amendment. The First Circuit declined to decide whether the Eighth Amendment ever applies to §881(a)(6) forfeitures, but went on to hold that, if it did, the forfeiture was not excessive “given the value of the [forfeited property] and the value of the cocaine [claimant] conspired to import….” U.S. v. One 1989 23 Ft. Wellcraft Motor Vessel, Etc., 125 F.3d 842 (1st Cir. 1997).xe "U.S. v. One 1989 23 Ft. Wellcraft Motor Vessel, Etc., 125 F.3d 842 (1st Cir. 1997)."
1st Circuit rules excessive fines claim may not be raised in §2255 proceeding. (700) Petitioner challenged the criminal forfeiture of his property in a proceeding under 28 U.S.C. §2255. He argued, inter alia, that the forfeiture was excessive under the Eighth Amendment. The First Circuit found that a request for relief from a “monetary-type penalty” is not cognizable under §2255, which is restricted to requests for relief from confinement. Rodriguez v. U.S., 132 F.3d 30 (1st Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished).xe "Rodriguez v. U.S., 132 F.3d 30 (1st Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished)."
1st Circuit upholds forfeiture of entire amount of laundered money, rather than net profit, from substitute assets. (700) Defen​dants participated in a large organization that laundered money for Colombian drug traf​fick​ers. During a 15-month period, conspir​ators wired over $136 million to foreign bank accounts controlled by the Colombians. The district court ordered the forfeiture of $136 million under one of RICO's forfeiture provi​sions, holding several conspirators liable for the full $136 million, and others liable for lesser amounts. Because the $136 million had been wired out of the country, each defendant was liable to pay the forfeited amount out of substitute assets. The First Circuit agreed that the $136 million wired to the Colombians consti​tuted racketeering "proceeds" forfeitable by the persons who handled or controlled these funds before they were wired. Moreover, a defendant's forfeiture extends to funds obtained by other members of the conspiracy, provided such funds were reasonably foreseeable to that defendant. Such a forfeiture did not constitute an excessive fine. It is quite rational to hold a defendant liable for an amount of money foreseeably laundered by himself and his own co-conspirators. U.S. v. Hurley, 63 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. Hurley, 63 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 1995)."
1st Circuit upholds forfeiture of $2.3 mil​lion in pro​perty that was "source of influ​ence" to RICO enter​prise. (700) Defendant operated nightclubs, peep shows, movie the​aters and adult book​stores. He was convicted of various RICO of​fenses as a result of using vari​ous "straw" per​sons and sham corpora​tions to avoid paying license fees and back taxes. He contended that his corpora​tion's criminal forfeiture of $2.3 million in property was so grossly dispropor​tionate to the serious​ness of the offense as to consti​tute cruel and unusual punishment. The 1st Cir​cuit rejected this claim. Defendant based his argument on the bare assertion that the value of the forfeited property grossly exceeded the value of the license and back taxes. Bald as​sertions of this na​ture are insuffi​cient. For​feitures under 18 U.S.C. §1963(a)(2)(D) apply to property "affording a source of influence over a criminal enter​prise." Forfeiture is thus warranted only to the extent the jury determined the property was tainted by racketeering activity. Here, there was ample evidence that the for​feited properties were an indispensable com​ponent of de​fendant's scheme to de​prive local au​thorities of back taxes. U.S. v. Bucuvalas, 970 F.2d 937 (1st Cir. 1992). xe "U.S. v. Bucuvalas, 970 F.2d 937 (1st Cir. 1992). "
1st Circuit holds that civil forfeitures are not sub​ject to proportionality analysis un​der 8th Amend​ment. (700) Claimant's one-third interest in property appraised at $1.8 million was forfeited as a result of cultivation of marijuana on the property. The 1st Cir​cuit rejected his claim that the forfeiture was so dispro​portionate as to violate the 8th Amendment. Circuit precedent established that propor​tionality analysis is inappropriate in civil forfeiture cases brought under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(7). Moreover, even if propor​tionality analysis were ap​plied, the claimant would still lose. Al​though the claimant's in​terest was valuable, its forfei​ture was not dispro​portionate when compared to the na​ture of his crime and the extent of his unlaw​ful activi​ties. U.S. v. One Parcel of Real Property with Buildings, Appurte​nances, and Improvements, Known as Plat 20, 960 F.2d 200 (1st Cir. 1992).xe "U.S. v. One Parcel of Real Property with Buildings, Appurte​nances, and Improvements, Known as Plat 20, 960 F.2d 200 (1st Cir. 1992)."
1st Circuit holds Eighth Amendment is not of​fended by forfeiture of farm used for growing marijuana. (700) Although it found that claimants had waived the point, the 1st Circuit held that for​feiture of a 17.9 acres of land was not dispropor​tionate to the offense committed. The police had seized approximately 130 large marijuana plants, and discovered other evi​dence which exhibited a large scale, high vol​ume marijuana pro​duction capabil​ity. Sec​ondly, the civil for​feiture statute auth​or​ized for​feiture of the entire tract of land, regardless of the mag​nitude of the infraction. The court cited several Supreme Court cases upholding such a statutory scheme. U.S. v. A Parcel of Land with a Build​ing Thereon, 884 F.2d 41 (1st Cir. 1989).xe "U.S. v. A Parcel of Land with a Build​ing Thereon, 884 F.2d 41 (1st Cir. 1989)."
Second Circuit holds that forfeiture of claimant’s interest in house violated Excessive Fines Clause, because her offensive conduct boiled down to her joint ownership and silence in the face of her husband's decision to grow marijuana in their basement almost 30 years into their marriage. (700) Rooting through the defendants’ trash for 10 months produced no incriminating evidence, but subpoenaed electrical records indicated that 32 Medley Lane consumed more than twice as much electricity as nearby residences of similar size and square footage. Officers searched and found 65 marijuana plants and other items commonly associated with the indoor cultivation of marijuana. The State of Connecticut brought a variety of criminal charges against Harold and Kathleen von Hofe, and both plead guilty. The federal government instituted a civil in rem forfeiture action against 32 Medley Lane two days after the search. At trial, the government alleged a substantial connection between 32 Medley Lane and drug violations, and Mrs. von Hofe raised an innocent owner defense under CAFRA; however, she made no claim that she, upon learning of the conduct giving rising to the forfeiture, did all that reasonably could be expected under the circumstances to terminate such use of the property. Mr. von Hofe corroborated his wife's lack of involvement in the marijuana cultivation. Even though the marijuana plants were growing in two compartments of a room down the corridor from her bedroom, Mrs. von Hofe insisted she could not smell the marijuana plants over the incense her husband burned in his study. She further claimed to have no reason to go into the compartments containing the marijuana plants, testifying that the oil man only entered the room when he needed to refill the oil tank. Mrs. von Hofe further insisted that she was busy and had no time to monitor her husband. Unlike Mr. von Hofe, whose job afforded him plenty of free time, Mrs. von Hofe was the principal breadwinner for the family and worked more than 70 hours a week as a nurse for the Yale-New Haven Hospital. She told the jury that she only pleaded guilty to misdemeanor possession of marijuana to save her two sons; local authorities had threatened to press charges against her sons if she did not enter a plea. The jury rejected her innocent-owner defense. The district court then conducted an evidentiary hearing to determine whether forfeiture of 32 Medley Lane would violate the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment; however, the district court upheld the forfeiture. On appeal, the Court held that it must determine whether the forfeiture is grossly disproportional to the offenses committed at the property, including the property's role in the offense, and the culpability of a claimant also is relevant. The Court identified the following factors to consider: (1) the harshness, or gross disproportionality, of the forfeiture in comparison to the gravity of the offense, giving due regard to (a) the offense committed and its relation to other criminal activity, (b) whether the claimant falls within the class of persons for whom the statute was designed, (c) the punishments available, and (d) the harm caused by the claimant's conduct; (2) the nexus between the property and the criminal offenses, including the deliberate nature of the use and the temporal and spatial extent of the use; and (3) the culpability of each claimant. The Court concluded that forfeiture of Harold von Hofe's one-half interest in 32 Medley Lane did not violate the Excessive Fines Clause; however, it would be severe punishment on Mrs. von Hofe. Given her undivided one-half interest in the property, forfeiture would amount to a $124,000 fine. Not only would forfeiture extinguish her substantial equity, it would amount to an eviction, destroying her “right to maintain control over [her] home, and to be free from governmental interference, ... a private interest of historic and continuing importance.” She bore minimal blame for the criminal activity at the house, with no evidence indicating her use of drugs or her involvement in any criminal activity whatsoever, and no evidence to suggest she encouraged or promoted the offensive conduct. And although she may have known her husband smoked his marijuana with friends and family, she was not aware either her sons or husband sold the marijuana in her home. The jury found she both knew of the marijuana plants and, upon learning about their presence in the basement, did nothing to stop her husband's horticultural hobby. However, he did not need his wife's permission to use the property; joint ownership entitled him to use of the property as if he was the sole owner. Her culpability, falling at the low end of the scale, was best described as turning a blind eye to her husband's marijuana cultivation in their basement. Although the Guidelines allow a fine of $4,000 to $40,000, or even $1 million, the utility of the available penalties tends to further diminish where a claimant does not have knowledge of the full extent of criminal activity occurring on the property. The Court thus held that on balance, forfeiture of Mrs. von Hofe's interest in 32 Medley Lane was an excessive fine, because her offensive conduct boiled down to her joint ownership and silence in the face of her husband's decision to grow marijuana in their basement almost 30 years into their marriage. The case was remanded for the district court to determine to what extent to reduce the amount to be forfeited by Mrs. von Hofe, including the appropriate partition of the property. Von Hofe v. U.S., 2007 WL 1839737 (2d Cir. 2007) (June 27, 2007).

2nd Circuit declines to choose excessiveness standard, but upholds forfeiture anyway. (700) Claimant, a twice-convicted drug dealer, challenged the civil forfeiture of her house as an excessive fine. She contended that the proper standard of constitutional excessiveness for a forfeiture under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(7) is the gross disproportionality test of U.S. v. Bajaka​jian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998). The government urged the court to employ the multi-factor test of U.S. v. Milbrand, 58 F.3d 841, 847-48 (2d Cir. 1995). The Second Circuit declined to decide which test was applicable, holding that claimant’s house was not an excessive fine under either test. Her house was worth $56,000 and she was subject to a criminal fine of $500,000, so the forfeiture was not grossly disproportional to the gravity of the offense. The additional Milbrand factors merely reinforce the reasonableness of the sanction: the property was closely related to the offense because drugs were sold there, and claimant was directly implicated in the crimes on the property. U.S. v. The Premises and Real Property … at 219 Ingersoll Street, 1999 WL 822492 (2d Cir. 1999) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. The Premises and Real Property … at 219 Ingersoll Street, 1999 WL 822492 (2d Cir. 1999) (unpublished)."
2nd Circuit says forfeiture of antiquity for customs violation is not excessive fine. (700) Claimant attempted to import an ancient gold platter (a “Phiale”) into the U.S. He made false statements on Customs documents about the value and country of origin of the Phiale, and the object was seized and subjected to civil in rem forfeiture. The Second Circuit rejected claimant’s argument that the forfeiture consti​tuted an excessive fine. Contrasting this case with U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998), the court found that forfeiture of the Phiale was not punishment, but was a classic, and constitutionally permissible, forfeiture of contraband imported in violation of customs laws. U.S. v. An Antique Platter of Gold, 184 F.3d 131 (2d Cir. 1999).xe "U.S. v. An Antique Platter of Gold, 184 F.3d 131 (2d Cir. 1999)."
2nd Circuit says habeas petition may not be used to attack forfeiture. (700) The govern​ment seized and administratively forfeited over $105,480 in drug proceeds from claimant’s luggage. After claimant’s conviction on heroin smuggling charges, but before sentencing, he filed a Rule 41(e) motion for return of the money; the motion was denied and claimant did not appeal. While incarcerated, claimant filed a habeas corpus petition pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §2255 in which he challenged the forfeiture of the cash as an excessive fine. The Second Circuit held that a §2255 petition may only be employed to challenge a criminal sentence, and thus such a petition is not a proper vehicle to attack an administrative forfeiture. The petition was properly dismissed. Ogbonna v. U.S., 166 F.3d 1201 (2d Cir. 1998) (table) (unpublished).xe "Ogbonna v. U.S., 166 F.3d 1201 (2d Cir. 1998) (table) (unpublished)."
2nd Circuit disallows tax deduction for §981 forfeiture because it is punishment (except for Double Jeopardy). (700) In an opinion that demon​strates graphically the ways in which federal courts are obliged to torture the word “punishment,” the Second Circuit disallowed petitioner’s claim of a tax deduction for funds forfeited to the government. Petitioner was convicted of structuring bank deposits, 31 U.S.C. §5324(a), and settled a concurrent forfeiture action under 18 U.S.C. §981 by agreeing to forfeit several individual retirement accounts (“IRAs”) to the U.S. He reported the forfeited IRA distributions as income, but also claimed a loss deduction attributable to the forfeiture. The Second Circuit upheld the IRS’ disallowance of the deduction. Tax deductions are disallowed when the claimed loss is “a fine or similar penalty” paid for a violation of law. Because the sentencing judge declined to order a fine in light of the forfeiture, the forfeiture in effect took the place of the fine and constituted “similar punishment.” The court thus held the deduction barred. In the very next paragraph, the court went on to reject petitioner’s double jeopardy argument because, for double jeopardy purposes, a §981 forfeiture is not “punishment.” Murillo v. Commissioner, Internal Revenue Service, 1998 WL 907890 (2d Cir. 1998) (unpublished).xe "Murillo v. Commissioner, Internal Revenue Service, 1998 WL 907890 (2d Cir. 1998) (unpublished)."
2nd Circuit upholds forfeiture of hotel based on alternative multi‑factor analysis. (700) The district court found that the forfeiture of a hotel because of narcotics activity was not an excessive fine. Claimants argued that the court did not apply the proper standard set out in U.S. v. Milbrand, 58 F.3d 841 (2d Cir. 1995) in making this assessment. Milbrand, decided after the district court's decision, held that the proper test is a "multi‑factor test combining the principles of both instrumentality and proportionality." The Second Circuit held that the court's findings and alternative analysis were sufficient under the Milbrand standard. Although the district court initially used a proportionality test, it considered an alternative multi‑factor test and substantially reviewed the forfeiture for harshness, relationship and owner culpability. The forfeiture was not harsh since claimant's loss of its $500,000 equity was at most 1/4 of the sentence that could be imposed on an owner who had allowed its building to be used for narcotics offenses. There was a substantial relationship between the hotel and the drug trafficking and the claimant was culpable because mismanagement helped create the problem, and the owner did virtually nothing to improve conditions despite warnings and recommendations from police. U.S. v. All Right, Title and Interest in Real Property and Appur​tenances, 77 F.3d 648 (2d Cir. 1996).xe "U.S. v. All Right, Title and Interest in Real Property and Appurtenances, 77 F.3d 648 (2d Cir. 1996)."
2nd Circuit uses multi-factor test to examine excessiveness of forfeiture. (700) Claimant argued that the forfeiture of her land based on her son's marijuana growing activities violated the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment. The Second Circuit affirmed the forfeiture, holding that the factors to be considered are: (1) the harshness of the forfeiture in comparison to the gravity of the offense and the sentence that could be imposed; (2) the relationship between the property and the offense; and (3) the culpability of the owner of the property. The large quantities of marijuana involved here would expose the possessor to very substantial penalties. The forfeiture of property valued at $68,000 for growing marijuana equivalent to one to five kilograms of cocaine is not excessive. The son used the entire property to further his advanced drug enterprise. Finally, although claimant was not prosecuted for any offense, the district court found that she would have to have been blind not to have been aware of her son's activities. U.S. v. Milbrand, 58 F.3d 891 (2d Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. Milbrand, 58 F.3d 891 (2d Cir. 1995)."
3rd Circuit finds forfeiture of Lear jet was not an excessive fine. (700) The DEA administra​tively forfeited a Lear jet used to transport cocaine. The owner filed an insurance claim for the loss of the aircraft. CIGNA, the company that insured the plane, paid the claim and then contested the forfeiture as the owner’s subrogee, asserting inter alia that the seizure constituted an excessive fine violative of the Eighth Amend​ment. The court found no violation, emphasizing that: (1) The federal forfeiture statute clearly authorized the forfeiture of aircraft used in the transportation of drugs. (2) The 300 kilograms of cocaine found in the plane was a relatively large amount. (3) The DEA found the insurance company culpable because it failed to assure that the jet was not used for improper purposes. The court also clearly considered it significant that CIGNA’s policy paid the owner’s claim irrespective of the fact that the aircraft was lost due to its use in the drug trade, a practice “which effectively insulate[s] criminals from the loss consequences of their crimes.” Yskamp v. Drug Enforcement Adminis​tration, 163 F.3d 767 (3d Cir. 1998).xe "Yskamp v. Drug Enforcement Administration, 163 F.3d 767 (3d Cir. 1998)."
3rd Circuit remands to decide whether forfeiture violated prohibition on excessive fines. (700) The district court rejected claim​ant's argument that the forfeiture of his property violated the 8th Amendment's prohibition against excessive fines, finding that the 8th Amendment did not apply to civil forfeiture actions. The 3rd Circuit remanded in light of Austin v. U.S., 509 U.S. 602 (1993), which held that forfeiture under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(7) was punishment subject to the excessive fines clause. The court did not establish a test, but discussed several different approaches, includ​ing whether the relationship of the property to the offense was close enough to render the property "guilty." Finally, although the Supreme Court did not address whether a judge or jury decides whether a civil forfeiture is excessive, the appellate court suggested that in the interest of judicial economy, the district court might want to submit the question to a jury on a special interrogatory. U.S. v. Premises Known as RR #1, Box 224, Dalton, 14 F.3d 864 (3d Cir. 1994).xe "U.S. v. Premises Known as RR #1, Box 224, Dalton, 14 F.3d 864 (3d Cir. 1994)."
3rd Circuit holds that 8th Amendment re​quires a criminal RICO forfeiture to be proportioned to the charged offense. (700) Based upon defendants' RICO convictions, the district court ordered a forfei​ture of 100 percent of defendants' interest in a busi​ness which was primarily legitimate. The jury had found that one defendant's interest in the corporation was tainted to the extent of 10 percent while the other defendant's interest was tainted to the extent of five percent. The 3rd Circuit held that the 8th Amend​ment re​quires that a criminal RICO forfeiture order be justly proportioned to the charged offense. Some proportionality analysis is required when the defen​dant makes a prima facie showing that the forfeiture is grossly dispro​portionate, or bears no close relation to the seriousness of the crime. Here, de​fendants raised a prima facie claim of gross dispro​portionality, and thus the district court should have given the issue careful scrutiny. U.S. v. Sarbello, 985 F.2d 716 (3d Cir. 1993).xe "U.S. v. Sarbello, 985 F.2d 716 (3d Cir. 1993)."
4th Circuit holds forfeiture of firearms defendant is not legally permitted to possess does not offend Excessive Fines Clause. (700) Defendant pled guilty to 18 U.S.C. §922(g) for possession of a firearm after conviction for a felony. The Government thereafter sought forfeiture of the firearms and ammunition and the district court granted the Government's motion for summary judgment. The 4th Circuit affirmed, reasoning that forfeiture of firearms that defendant is not legally entitled to possess is remedial in nature. Thus, the amount of the forfeiture is not grossly disproportional to the gravity of the offense and does not offend the Excessive Fines Clause. U.S. v. Boles, 2001 WL 22985 (4th Cir. 2001) (unpublished disposition). 

4th Circuit rules forfeiture of illicit proceeds never "grossly disproportionate" to the gravity of the offense. (700) Following a jury trial, defendant was convicted of various drug offenses, and certain real property was found subject to criminal forfeiture on the grounds that it was purchased with drug proceeds, in violation of 21 U.S.C. 
§853. Defendant appealed, claiming the forfeiture was unconstitutionally excessive. The 4th Circuit disagreed, holding that forfeiture of illicit proceeds relieves the defendant of his ill-gotten gains, and therefore is never "grossly disproportionate to the gravity of the offense," which is the test for a violation of the Eighth Amendment Excessive Fines Clause. United States v. Powell, 2001 WL 51010 (4th Cir 2001) (unpublished disposition).

4th Circuit says failure to raise excessive fines claim below makes standard of review “plain error.” (700) Defendant was convicted of structuring monetary transactions for the purpose of evading reporting requirements, and of criminal forfeiture. In his Anders brief filed with the Fourth Circuit, defendant’s counsel raised for the first time the possibility that the forfeiture might be “grossly disproportional” to the harm caused by the offense, and therefore a violation of the Excessive Fines Clause. The Fourth Circuit noted that, if the issue had been properly preserved, it would have reviewed this question de novo. However, because defendant failed to object to the forfeiture “at any juncture” below, the standard of review was “restricted to a search for plain error.” The court found none and affirmed the conviction and sentence. U.S. v. Brewer, 191 F.3d 448 (4th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Brewer, 191 F.3d 448 (4th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished)."
4th Circuit finds forfeiture of home not disproportionate to drug offense. (700) Defendant was convicted of methampheta​mine trafficking offenses, and the jury found her home and the property on which it sat criminally forfeitable. The Fourth Circuit held that this forfeiture was not “grossly dispro​portionate” to the gravity of the offense of conviction. See, U.S. v Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321, 118 S.Ct. 2028 (1998). The court noted that defendant’s conviction subjected her to potential fines of from $20,000 to $200,000 under the Federal Sentencing Guidelines. Defendant was ordered to forfeit a one-half interest in property valued at $240,000. Thus, the forfeiture was not disproportionate to the seriousness of the offense. [Ed. Note: This case continues what appears to be an emerging trend in excessive fines cases of comparing the value of forfeited property to the fine range calculated under the Federal Sentencing Guidelines, as opposed to the maximum fine available under the statute(s) of conviction.] U.S. v. Gaston, 176 F.3d 476 (4th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Gaston, 176 F.3d 476 (4th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished)."
4th Circuit finds forfeiture of inventory of clothing stores not excessive fine. (700) A jury found the inventory of defendants’ clothing stores forfeitable as property “involved in” a credit card fraud and money laundering scheme in which the owners knowingly accepted charges by credit card thieves. The Fourth Circuit found that the value of the inventory (although not stated in the trial record) was not “grossly disproportionate” to the gravity of the offense. Even though the amount charged to stolen credit cards during the course of the scheme was only approximately $11,000, the scheme continued for over one year and “there is little doubt that the defendants would have continued the fraudulent scheme had they not been caught." U.S. v. Matai, 199 WL 61913 (4th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Matai, 199 WL 61913 (4th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished)."
4th Circuit finds no excessive fine where forfeited property worth less than possible fine. (700) Defendant was convicted of various drug trafficking offenses on the strength of evidence establishing a pattern of dealing in marijuana and cocaine over a ten-year period. The jury also found several vehicles and two tracts of land criminally forfeitable as proceeds or facilitating property. The Fourth Circuit ruled that these forfeitures were not “grossly disproportional to the gravity of the defendant’s offense,” U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321, 118 S.Ct. 2028, 2036 (1998), and thus did not constitute an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. The court considered of particular importance the fact that the value of the forfeited property was less than the maximum criminal fine to which defendant was subject. Likewise, the length of the conspiracy, the amount of drugs (over 2000 kilos of marijuana), the number of participants, and the effect of the conspiracy on the community were important factors. U.S. v. Shiflett, 1998 WL 386116 (4th Cir. 1998) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Shiflett, 1998 WL 386116 (4th Cir. 1998) (unpublished)."
4th Circuit finds forfeiture of home not excessive fine for trading dirty pictures of minors. (700) A Virginia man was convicted of “knowingly receiving and transmitting by computer visual depictions of minors engaging in sexually explicit conduct,” 18 U.S.C. §2252(a)(1). Defendant apparently sent and received juvenile pornography through on-line computer services and stored the images on disks and his computer hard drive. The government forfeited defendant’s house, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §2253. Defendant argued that the forfeiture violated the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment. With virtually no comment, the Fourth Circuit upheld the forfeiture, saying only that the opinion of the district court was a “sound and reasoned judgment.” U.S. v. Ownby, 131 F.3d 138 (4th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Ownby, 131 F.3d 138 (4th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished)."
4th Circuit reiterates rejection of propor​tionality analysis and finds no excessive fine. (700) Claimant’s real property was seized and forfeited pursuant to 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(7) when a search revealed an extensive marijuana cultivation operation. Claimant pled guilty to marijuana possession, but asserted that because her culpability was minimal, the forfeiture of her home was an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. The Fourth Circuit applied the instrumentality test for excessiveness from U.S. v. Chandler, 36 F.3d 358, 365 (4th Cir. 1994), and held that claimant’s acquiescence in illegal activity on her land, in her shed, in her garage, and in her home was enough to satisfy the prong of that test regarding “role and culpability of the owner.” In considering the components of the Chandler test relating to the extent of the illegal use of the property, “the inquiry is as of the time of the illegal activity, not as a fraction of the history of the use of the land….” Finally, the court rejected claimant’s reliance on the cruel and unusual punishment clause of the Eighth Amendment, saying that claimant’s argument “consists solely of an invitation to conduct a proportionality analysis, a course of action we expressly rejected in Chandler.” U.S. v. 152 Char-Nor Manor Boulevard, 114 F.3d 1178 (4th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. 152 Char-Nor Manor Boulevard, 114 F.3d 1178 (4th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished)."
4th Circuit says forfeiture of real estate in addition to $3 million cash was not excessive fine. (700) Defen​dants were convicted of conspiracy to sell cocaine and marijuana, and were ordered to criminally forfeit $3,000,000 in currency and eleven tracts of real estate. The Fourth Circuit found that the forfeitures did not violate the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment. First, defendants conceded that under U.S. v. Wild, 47 F.3d 669, 676 (4th Cir. 1995), those properties forfeited as proceeds could not be included in an excessive fines analysis because a proceeds forfeiture “will never support an excessive fines challenge.” Second, the Fourth Circuit excessive fines standard is “whether the value of the property being forfeited is and excessive monetary punishment in relation to the offense giving rise to the forfeiture. The total value of the forfeited cash and real estate did not exceed the $4 million maximum authorized fine for defendant’s offense, and thus no excessive fine was imposed. U.S. v. Locklear, 121 F.3d 701 (4th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Locklear, 121 F.3d 701 (4th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished)."
4th Circuit considers value of property in deciding whether in personam criminal for​feiture is excessive. (700) Defendant was convicted of drug crimes and his house was forfeited under 21 U.S.C. §853(a)(2). The dis​trict court, applying an instrumentality test, rejected defendant's claim that the forfeiture was an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. The Fourth Circuit held that the instrumentality test does not apply to in personam criminal forfeitures because they are a form of monetary punishment. Thus, the excessiveness inquiry should focus, at least in part, on the value of the property being forfeited, i.e. the amount of the fine. A court should compare the value of the property to the gravity of the offense. Only in rare situations will a forfeiture under (a)(2) (for property used commit to crime) be excessive, and only in exceedingly rare situations will a forfeiture under (a)(3) (for property affording a defendant control over a criminal enterprise) be disturbed. Forfeitures under (a)(1) (proceeds of an illegal activity) can never be excessive in a constitutional sense. U.S. v. Wild, 47 F.3d 669 (4th Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. Wild, 47 F.3d 669 (4th Cir. 1995)."
4th Circuit adopts three-part test to deter​mine whether civil forfeiture is excessive. (700) The 4th Circuit adopted a three-part instrumentality test for determining whether a civil forfeiture is an excessive fine under the 8th Amendment. A court must consider: 1) the nexus between the offense and the property, and the extent of the property's role in the offense; 2) the role and culpability of the owner; and 3) the possibility of separating the offending property from the remainder. In measuring the strength and extent of the nexus between the property and the offense, a court may take into account: 1) whether the use of the property in the offense was deliberate and planned or merely incidental and fortuitous; 2) whether the property was important to the success of the illegal activity; 3) the time during which the property was illegally used and the special extent of its use; 4) whether its illegal use was an isolated event or had been repeated; and 5) whether the purpose of acquiring, maintaining or using the property was to carry out the offense. To sustain a forfeiture against an 8th Amendment challenge, the court must be able to conclude, under the totality of the circumstances, that the property was a substantial and meaningful instrumentality in the commission of the offense, or would have been, had the offense been carried out as intended. U.S. v. Chandler, 36 F.3d 358 (4th Cir. 1994).xe "U.S. v. Chandler, 36 F.3d 358 (4th Cir. 1994)."
4th Circuit rejects Eighth Amendment claim and upholds civil forfeiture of 33-acre farm based on drug transactions conducted by owner. (700) Claimant argued that the civil forfeiture of his 33-acre farm constituted an excessive fine under the 8th Amendment. Applying a three-part instrumentality test (see previous summary), the 4th Circuit approved the forfeiture of the entire farm. First, the nexus between the property and the offenses was high. Three government witnesses established that from 1984-88, the farm served as the situs for over 130 drug transactions. The farm's secluded location significantly facilitated the transactions. The use permeated the basement, kitchen, garage and long driveway. Moreover, the property was maintained and improved by payments made with drugs. Second, the owner was culpable. He was not merely aware of the drug activity, but was actively involved in it. Finally, the farmhouse and garage where the drug activity took place was not on a separately platted property that could be readily separated from the rest of the property. The overwhelming evidence showed that the farm was both a substantial and meaningful instrumentality of the alleged drug offenses. U.S. v. Chandler, 36 F.3d 358 (4th Cir. 1994).xe "U.S. v. Chandler, 36 F.3d 358 (4th Cir. 1994)."
4th Circuit holds ban on excessive fines applies to forfeitures under gambling statute. (700) Claimants argued that the forfeiture of their residence under 18 U.S.C. §§981 and 1955(d) in connection with illegal gambling, was barred by the 8th Amendment's ban on excessive fines. The 4th Circuit held that the ban applied to in rem forfeitures and that the district court erred in failing to decide whether the forfeiture of the residence was excessive. In Austin v. U.S., 509 U.S. 602 (1993), the Supreme Court held that the ban on excessive fines applied to in rem forfeiture of drug-related property under 21 U.S.C. §881. The Court found that Congress intended an 881 forfeiture to serve a punitive purpose by tying forfeiture directly to the commission of drug offenses. Likewise, Congress intended forfeiture under §§981 and 1955 to serve punitive purposes. Thus, the reasoning of Austin applied here. U.S. v. Taylor, 13 F.3d 786 (4th Cir. 1994).xe "U.S. v. Taylor, 13 F.3d 786 (4th Cir. 1994)."
4th Circuit remands for proportionality inquiry in light of Austin. (700) In U.S. v. Borromeo, 995 F.2d 23 (4th Cir. 1993), a 4th Circuit panel refused to require the district court to perform an inquiry into the proportionality of the forfeiture of a building defendant used to facilitate his drug activity. On rehearing, the 4th Circuit vacated this portion of the opinion and remanded in light of Austin v. U.S., 509 U.S. 602 (1993). On remand, the district court should conduct an inquiry into the proportionality between the value of the instrumentality sought to be forfeited and the amount needed to effectuate the legitimate remedial purpose of the forfeiture. It was less clear whether a similar inquiry into the proportionality of the forfeiture of the proceeds of illegal activity was necessary. However, the proportional relationship between the value of the proceeds to the harm caused by a defendant's conduct might, in a given case, be relevant under the approach in Austin. Thus, on remand, the district court should also make a proportionality determination with regard to each and all items of property which the government seeks to forfeit. U.S. v. Borromeo, 1 F.3d 219 (4th Cir. 1993), reaffirming in part, vacating in part, 995 F.2d 23 (4th Cir. 1993).xe "U.S. v. Borromeo, 1 F.3d 219 (4th Cir. 1993), reaffirming in part, vacating in part, 995 F.2d 23 (4th Cir. 1993)."
4th Circuit holds civil forfeiture statute vio​lates neither 8th Amendment nor due process. (700) Although the Fourth and Fifth Amend​ments apply to civil forfeitures, the Fourth Cir​cuit refused to extend the protection of the due process clause and the 8th Amendment to the civil forfeiture statute, 21 U.S.C. §881. Fol​lowing other circuit decisions, the court held that encumbering the statute with criminal pro​cedural safeguards would be con​trary to Con​gress' intent to make such pro​ceedings civil in nature. U.S. v. Santoro, 866 F.2d 1538 (4th Cir. 1989).xe "U.S. v. Santoro, 866 F.2d 1538 (4th Cir. 1989)."
4th Circuit rules forfeiture of funds directly traceable to structuring violations and funds forfeitable as a substitute asset does not constitute an excessive fine. (700) The Fourth Circuit affirmed defendant’s customs fraud and conspiracy convictions, but reversed his convictions for structuring deposits to evade reporting requirements and vacated the criminal forfeiture because the government failed to prove that Ahmad "willfully" violated the anti-structuring statute. Ahmad then filed a motion for return of seized funds. The government filed a civil forfeiture action against the funds, which were traceable to the anti-structuring violations or forfeiitable as substitute assets involved in the fraud. The district court entered judgment in the defendant’s favor after it found that the forfeiture constituted an excessive fine. The 4th Circuit reversed, holding that the forfeiture was not grossly disproportional to the criminal offenses committed. The court, in applying the Bajakajian test, stated that it is not limited to criminal forfeiture actions; the test also applies in determining whether any "punitive" forfeiture–civil or criminal–is excessive. United States v. Ahmad, 213 F.3d 805 (4th Cir. 2000)

5th Circuit rules forfeiture of private prison building worth $4 million not excessive fine. (700) Individual and corporate defendants were found guilty of bribery, money laundering, and fraud in connection with the construction and operation of Louisiana private prison. The prison building itself (worth about $4 million) was ordered forfeited as facilitating property under 18 U.S.C. §982(a)(1). The Fifth Circuit applied the test set forth in U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998), and found that the forfeiture was not grossly disproportional to the gravity of the offense. The court noted that the defendants were convicted of a comprehensive conspiracy that ran for six years and involved bribery of the highest law enforcement officer in the parish. The forfeited property was closely related to the money laundering scheme. Forfeiture of the prison building was not an excessive fine. U.S. v. Wyly, 193 F.3d 289 (5th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Wyly, 193 F.3d 289 (5th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished)."
5th Circuit holds defendant waived claim that forfeiture of residence was disproportionate. (700) A jury convicted defendant of manufac​turing marijuana and returned a special verdict finding defendant's residence subject to forfeit​ure. Defendant argued that the district court erred by failing to determine whether the forfeiture of his residence violated the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against excessive fines. The Fifth Circuit held that defendant failed to preserve this issue for appeal. Defense counsel stated that he would like to reserve defendant's right to argue that the forfeiture was a dispropor​tionate taking, however, he was unsure whether he had to do that prior to the court ordering the forfeiture. The district court gave counsel until the following week to advise it whether defendant had anything to submit. No filing was made by defendant or his lawyer. Defendant's inaction failed to preserve the issue for appeal. Moreover, there was no plain error, since this circuit has yet to articulate a test for determining whether a criminal forfeiture is excessive. U.S. v. Badeaux, 42 F.3d 245 (5th Cir. 1994).xe "U.S. v. Badeaux, 42 F.3d 245  (5th Cir. 1994)."
6th Circuit finds sex offender registration was neither double jeopardy nor cruel and unusual punishment. (700) A convicted Tennessee sex offender chal​lenged the state’s requirement that sex offenders register with state authorities following their release from prison. He alleged that the statute constituted double punishment for his offense in violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause, and was cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amend​ment. The Sixth Circuit rejected both arguments and upheld the statute. The relevance of the case to forfeiture practitioners lies in the court’s analysis of whether the statute constituted “punishment” under either the Fifth or Eighth Amendments. The court complied with the directive of Hudson v. U.S., 522 U.S. 93 (1997), and applied the seven-factor test of Kennedy v. Mendoza-Martinez, 372 U.S. 144 (1963), to conclude that the statute was not punishment for double jeopardy purposes. It went on to reject plaintiff’s cruel and unusual punishment argu​ment with the terse declaration that, “the Act does not impose punishment; it is regulatory in nature. Therefore, it does not violate the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment.” Cutshall v. Sundquist, 193 F.3d 466 (6th Cir. 1999).xe "Cutshall v. Sundquist, 193 F.3d 466 (6th Cir. 1999)."
6th Circuit finds forfeiture of $175,000 cash and bingo hall not excessive fine. (700) Defendant was convicted of conducting an illegal gaming operation, money laundering, and other offenses. Thereafter, the government civilly forfeited $175,000 cash found in a safe deposit box as gambling proceeds, as well as the hall where the gambling occurred and which acted as a “cover” for money laundering. The Sixth Circuit found that forfeiture of the criminal proceeds was not an excessive fine. Likewise, forfeiture of the hall for which defendant paid $144,000 was not an excessive fine, “especially considering that [defendant] was originally sentenced to pay a $500,000 fine in the related criminal action.” U.S. v. Four Contiguous Parcels of Real Property, 191 F.3d 461 (6th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Four Contiguous Parcels of Real Property, 191 F.3d 461 (6th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished)."
6th Circuit says forfeiture of sum less than maximum statutory fine not violation of 8th Amendment. (700) Following his conviction of gambling and money laundering violations, defendant was ordered by a jury to forfeit roughly $1 million worth of property “involved in” the crime. 18 U.S.C. §1956 provides for a fine of $500,000 or twice the value of the property involved in the money laundering transaction, whichever is greater. The Sixth Circuit noted that “there is no constitutional violation when the forfeiture does not exceed the maximum fine allowed by law.” Thus, a forfeiture of $1 million in a case where the fine could have been $2 million is not constitutionally excessive. U.S. v. Hill, 167 F.3d 1055 (6th Cir. 1999).xe "U.S. v. Hill, 167 F.3d 1055 (6th Cir. 1999)."
6th Circuit remands case for further findings on excessive fines claim. (700) Plaintiff filed a civil action seeking return of property, including $65,773 in cash and real property in North Carolina, seized and forfeited during the course of his criminal prosecution for drug offenses. Plaintiff claimed, inter alia, that these forfeitures were constitutionally excessive. The court of appeals observed that “it is now clear that civil forfeitures may be subject to limitations of the Eighth Amendment’s Excessive Fines Clause.” Because the district court failed to address the issue of excessiveness in its memorandum dismissing plaintiff’s pro se complaint, the court of appeals remanded the case for further factual findings on the point. Nichols v. U.S., 172 F.3d 50 (6th Cir. 1998) (table) (unpublished).xe "Nichols v. U.S., 172 F.3d 50 (6th Cir. 1998) (table) (unpublished)."
6th Circuit finds forfeiture of $220,000 house used to grow marijuana was not excessive fine. (700) Federal authorities sought civil forfeiture of claimant’s house pursuant to 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(7) after Cincinnati police officers found a marijuana growing operation in the residence. Claimant contended that the forfeiture was an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment, noting that the house was valued at $220,000, but that the seized contraband was worth only $20,000 and the maximum financial penalty he could have received for his state conviction was an $8,000 fine. The Sixth Circuit applied the gross disproportionality test of U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998), and found forfeiture of the house not constitutionally excessive. The court compared the value of the house to potential federal criminal penalties, rather than the potential penalties in the state court where claimant was convicted. It also noted that, although the amount of marijuana found on the premises was relatively small, the house was equipped for ongoing production of much larger quantities. In a footnote, the Sixth Circuit said it is “confident” that Bajakajian does not overrule the holding of U.S. v. Austin, 509 U.S. 602 (1993), that drug forfeitures under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(7) are subject to the Excessive Fines Clause. U.S. v. Real Property Known and Numbered as 415 East Mitchell Avenue, 149 F.3d 472 (6th Cir. 1998).xe "U.S. v. Real Property Known and Numbered as 415 East Mitchell Avenue, 149 F.3d 472 (6th Cir. 1998)."
6th Circuit forfeits entire tract where camper with meth lab was parked. (700) Defendant was convicted of manufacturing methampheta​mine and the jury returned a verdict of forfeiture against the parcel of property on which defendant parked the camper holding the “cooking” equipment. The Sixth Circuit rejected defendant’s argument that the entire parcel should not be forfeited where only a small portion of the land was used to carry out the illegal activity. Citing U.S. v. Smith, 966 F.2d 1045, 1053-54 (6th Cir. 1992), the court noted that an entire tract is forfeitable even where a defendant uses only a small part for crime, and that the scope of the forfeitable tract is defined by the instruments that create a defendant’s interest in the property. The court also ruled that the forfeiture here did not violate the Eighth Amendment because the value of the property “was well within the range of Defendant’s fine under the sentencing guidelines.” U.S. v. Murks, 145 F.3d 1334 (6th Cir. 1998) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Murks, 145 F.3d 1334 (6th Cir. 1998) (table) (unpublished)."
6th Circuit finds no excessive fine in real estate forfeiture. (700) Claimant appealed a district court order granting summary judgment for the government in this civil forfeiture action against real property. The Sixth Circuit rejected his contention that the forfeiture constituted an excessive fine. The court emphasized that it has not adopted any single excessive fines test. Rather, it recognizes “the factually intensive nature of forfeiture cases and has approved the application of an ‘instrumen​tality’ test and a ‘proportionality’ test, simultaneously and alternatively, in the same case.” Citing U.S. v. 11869 Westshore Drive, 70 F.3d 923, 930 (6th Cir. 1995). The government introduced evidence to meet both prongs, and claimant rebutted neither showing. U.S. v. 4508 Stoneview Drive, 124 F.3d 201 (6th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. 4508 Stoneview Drive, 124 F.3d 201 (6th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished)."
6th Circuit finds forfeiture of house for three marijuana sales was not excessive fine. (700) Claimant sold marijuana out of his house to a confidential informant on three occasions. The Sixth Circuit ruled that claimant did not meet his burden of demonstrating that the forfeiture of the house was an excessive fine under the 8th Amendment. The court did not decide whether an "instrumentality" test or a "proportionality" test should be used to evaluate the excessiveness of a forfeiture, since claimant could not meet his burden under either test. Judge Guy dissented, arguing that the forfeiture was excessive because claimant's use of the property for the sales was incidental, the property was used for normal residential purposes and was not used to store drugs, only two of the sales actually occurred at the house, and the informant approached claimant to buy drugs while claimant was at home. U.S. v. Real Property Known and Numbered as 429 South Main Street, New Lexington, Ohio, 52 F.3d 1416 (6th Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. Real Property Known and Numbered as 429 South Main Street, New Lexington, Ohio, 52 F.3d 1416 (6th Cir. 1995)."
6th Circuit holds that forfeiture of house was not excessive fine. (700) On two occasions, claimant sold undercover agents multiple‑ pound quantities of marijuana. One of the sale took place on the property containing his residence. Police found various amounts of marijuana throughout the house, over $8,000 in cash (some of which were prerecorded funds used the controlled purchases) and several weapons. Police also found 25 pounds of marijuana in a barn on a lot adjacent to the residence. Claimant argued that the forfeiture of his residence was an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. The Sixth Circuit held that the forfeiture was not excessive under either the instrumentality test or the propor​tionality test. There was an adequate nexus between the drug activities and house to satisfy the instrumentality test. The house was used as a "sales office" in which the sales of marijuana were arranged, and the barn was used as the "warehouse" to store the marijuana. The forfeiture also was not disproportionate to the street value of the drugs found in the barn (25 pounds) and the drugs sold to the informant (six pounds). The street value of this marijuana was between $64,000 and $89,000. The appraised value of the house was $85,000. Because of the factually intensive nature of these types of cases, the court chose not to establish any one test to be applied in every case. U.S. v. Certain Real Property Located at 11869 Westshore Drive, Putnam Township, Livingston County, Michigan, 70 F.3d 923 (6th Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. Certain Real Property Located at 11869 Westshore Drive, Putnam Township, Livingston County, Michigan, 70 F.3d 923 (6th Cir. 1995)."
6th Circuit finds forfeiture of $65,000 home where attic used to grow marijuana not dispro​portionate. (700) Claimant ar​gued that the forfeiture of his $65,000 home because he grew marijuana in the at​tic was disproportionate to his actions and consti​tuted cruel and unusual punishment. The 6th Circuit declined to determine whether the 8th Amendment applied to such forfeitures, since even if it did, this was clearly not a case where the forfeiture was dis​proportionate. Claimant turned his entire attic area into a growing room for marijuana. He carried away at least 40 marijuana plants from the house only hours before the execution of a search warrant which uncovered two re​maining pots of marijuana and a plethora of marijuana cultivating equipment and sup​plies. U.S. v. Certain Real Property 566 Hendrickson Boulevard, 986 F.2d 990 (6th Cir. 1993).xe "U.S. v. Certain Real Property 566 Hendrickson Boulevard, 986 F.2d 990 (6th Cir. 1993)."
6th Circuit permits forfeiture of prop​erty valued at $1 million for growing just over 100 marijuana plants. (700) Defendant con​tended that forfeiture of his property, com​bined with his prison sentence of five years, constituted cruel and unusual punishment for the crime of manufacturing just over 100 mari​juana plants. Assuming that criminal forfeitures un​der 21 U.S.C. §853 were subject to the Eighth Amendment prohibition, the 6th Circuit found that the forfeiture was not "grossly dispro​portionate" to defendant's crime. The court noted that Congress had autho​rized a maximum fine of $2 million, in ad​dition to a maximum 40-year prison term, for defen​dant's crime. U.S. v. Smith, 966 F.2d 1045 (6th Cir. 1992).xe "U.S. v. Smith, 966 F.2d 1045 (6th Cir. 1992)."
7th Circuit holds that forfeitures were not fines, where claimants were not the subject of criminal proceedings and their conduct was not the cause of the forfeitures. (700) The government filed civil forfeiture actions in rem against 18 pieces of real property and 13 vehicles purchased with drug sale proceeds by a long-time narcotics distributor. After purchasing, he put the properties in the names of friends and family to avoid detection. The district court ordered 15 of the 18 real properties and 3 of the 13 vehicles forfeited, and claimants appealed. The Seventh Circuit noted that the claimants themselves were not the subject of criminal proceedings, the forfeitures were thus truly in rem proceedings, and their conduct was not the cause of the forfeitures. The Seventh Circuit found that the properties would not have been forfeited had the claimants been able to establish that the properties had no connection to the purchaser’s drug dealing. The Seventh Circuit concluded that the forfeiture were not punitive and not subject to the gross disproportionality test under the Eighth Amendment. . U.S. v. 1948 South Martin Luther King Drive, 271 F.3d 1102 (7th Cir. 2001).

7th Circuit holds excessiveness claim waived if not raised in response to summary judgment motion. (700) The government commenced civil in rem forfeiture proceedings against claimants’ farm after marijuana and weapons were found on the premises, and successfully moved for sum​mary judgment. After the government’s motion was granted, claimants raised for the first time the claim that forfeiture of the farm violated the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment. Noting that the purpose of a summary judgment motion is to determine all issues as to which there are no disputed questions of material fact, the Seventh Circuit ruled that if claimants believed there were disputed issues regarding constitutional excessiveness, those issues should have been raised in response to the summary judgment motion. Because the issue was not raised, it was waived. U.S. v. 47 West 644 Route 38, 190 F.3d 781 (7th Cir. 1999).xe "U.S. v. 47 West 644 Route 38, 190 F.3d 781 (7th Cir. 1999)."
7th Circuit says $500 fine on owner of car where drugs or guns found not an excessive fine. (700) The City of Chicago passed an ordinance imposing a $500 fine on the owner of any vehicle in which illegal drugs or unregis​tered firearms are found. The ordinance recog​nized only three defenses: (1) the car was stolen; (2) the vehicle was operating as a common carrier and the owner did not know of the violation; and (3) the item found was not unlawful. Plaintiffs challenged the ordinance on the ground that the assessment was an excessive fine in vio​lation of the Eighth Amendment. The Seventh Circuit found no constitutional violation. The court agreed with plaintiffs that the purpose of the ordinance is not entirely remedial insofar as it seeks to deter vehicle owners from permitting use of their cars for illegal purposes. Nonetheless, the fines are not “grossly dispro​portional” to the gravity of the underlying conduct, see U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998). Owners who permit illegal use of their cars facilitate such uses, and the City’s levy of $500 is not disproportionate to the seriousness of such negligent behavior. Towers v. City of Chicago, 173 F.3d 619 (7th Cir. 1999).xe "Towers v. City of Chicago, 173 F.3d 619 (7th Cir. 1999)."
7th Circuit applies proportionality and instrumental​ity tests in rejecting excessive fines claim. (700) The government sought civil forfeiture of claimants’ home because they operated a marijuana grow operation in the basement. The Seventh Circuit found this forfeiture did not violate the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment. The opinion is carefully drafted to avoid espousing any particular test for excessiveness. On one hand, the panel rejected the argument that U.S. v. Plescia, 48 F.3d 1452, 1462 (7th Cir. 1995), adopted a pure instrumentality test. On the other hand, the opinion expressly declined to endorse any particular “’mix’ of instrumental​ity and proportionality factors that courts ought to address in passing upon Excessive Fines Clause challenges to civil forfeitures.” Instead, the court found that the house here was an instrumentality of the crime, and that claimants failed to adduce facts amounting to a colorable proportionality showing under any standard. U.S. v. One Parcel of Real Estate Located at 25 Sandra Court, Sandwich, Illinois, 135 F.3d 462 (7th Cir. 1998). xe " U.S. v. One Parcel of Real Estate Located at 25 Sandra Court, Sandwich, Illinois, 135 F.3d 462 (7th Cir. 1998)."
7th Circuit finds $10,000 civil fine imposed on landlord for sexual harassment not excessive fine. (700) A landlord demanded sexual favors from a female tenant and attempted to evict her when she rejected his advances. An administrative law judge found that the landlord violated the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §3601, et seq., by committing sexual harassment, and assessed penalties including a $10,000 civil fine. The Seventh Circuit found that the fine, the maximum allowable under the statute, was not excessive under the Eighth Amendment despite the landlord’s plaint that he would have to sell one of his four properties to pay it. Wrote the court, “[D]ifficulty in paying is not inability to pay, and a painless sanction would have little deterrent effect.” Krueger v. Cuomo, 115 F.3d 487 (7th Cir. 1997).xe "Krueger v. Cuomo, 115 F.3d 487 (7th Cir. 1997)." 

7th Circuit upholds forfeiture of $30,000 interest in house based on $50,000 drug transaction. (700) Defendant was convicted of charges stemming from a large cocaine conspiracy. The Seventh Circuit rejected his claim that the forfeiture of his home was an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. The connection between the offense and the property was not incidental and fortuitous. The government claimed the house primarily on the basis of one phone call made to the house in which defendant set up a large cocaine transaction. Defendant used the privacy of his home to conduct drug-related business over the phone. Moreover, defendant's equity in the house was only about $30,000, while the drug deal involved $50,000 worth of cocaine. U.S. v. Plescia, 48 F.3d 1452 (7th Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. Plescia, 48 F.3d 1452 (7th Cir. 1995)."
7th Circuit rejects statutory and constitu​tional chal​lenges to forfeiture of entire parcel of land. (700) Claimant con​tended that the forfeiture of his entire five-acre parcel was not valid under the civil forfeiture statute be​cause only a portion of the property was "substantially con​nected" to the drug activity. He also contended that the for​feiture violated the 8th Amend​ment. The 7th Circuit upheld the forfeiture of the entire five acres. First, a sub​stantial connection is not re​quired be​tween the property and the related drug of​fense for a civil forfeiture of real es​tate under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(7). The court agreed with other courts that have held that §881(a)(7) con​templates the forfeiture of an en​tire tract of land based on drug-re​lated activities on a portion of a tract. Claimant's 8th Amendment challenge also failed. The court believed that the 8th Amendment does not apply to civil in rem ac​tions, but ac​knowledged that the opposing view has some support. However, even if the 8th Amend​ment did apply, claimant failed to show how the forfeiture was dispropor​tional. He mentioned, but did not dis​cuss, any of the fac​tors which are typically considered in de​termining propor​tionality. U.S. v. Certain Real Property, Commonly Known as 6250 Ledge Road, Egg Harbor, WI, 943 F.2d 721 (7th Cir. 1991).xe "U.S. v. Certain Real Property, Commonly Known as 6250 Ledge Road, Egg Harbor, WI, 943 F.2d 721 (7th Cir. 1991)."
7th Circuit upholds forfeiture against 8th Amendment challenge. (700) Defendant ar​gued that the forfeiture of 5.5 acres of land vi​olated the 8th Amendment by being grossly disproportionate to the offense committed. The 7th Circuit rejected defendant's argument. The district court had found that the ware​house buildings located on the property had been used to store and distribute over 300 pounds of mari​juana over a three-month pe​riod. Defendant was in the up​per tier of the conspiracy to distribute marijuana. The fact that the warehouse sys​tem itself only occupied 1.5 of the 5.5 acres of the prop​erty forfeited, and that defendant also used the ware​house for a legitimate business, did not show a gross dis​proportionality between defendant's offense and his entire penalty. U.S. v. Vriner, 921 F.2d 710 (7th Cir. 1991).xe "U.S. v. Vriner, 921 F.2d 710 (7th Cir. 1991)."
7th Circuit upholds forfeiture of entire build​ing against proportionality arguments. (700) Claimant contended that forfeiture of an entire three-story building was inappro​priate. The 7th Circuit noted that claimant failed to pre​sent these arguments to the dis​trict court, and therefore, they could not serve as a basis for a rever​sal. Nonetheless, the court found the ar​guments were without merit. The district court had no discretion to order a proportional, rather than a total, forfeiture. Nor did forfei​ture of the entire building vi​olate the 8th Amendment's prohibition against dispropor​tionate pun​ishment, since the 8th Amendment does not ap​ply to civil in rem actions. More​over, there was no unfair​ness in seizing the en​tire building, because the gambling was not confined to any one small area of the building. Gam​bling had been discovered on two differ​ent floors, and on at least one occasion, close to 100 hundred peo​ple were pre​sent. The building itself had been modified to harbor the gambling activity, with a camera and elec​tronically-activated gates to monitor outsiders. U.S. v. On Leong Chinese Merchants Asso​ciation Building, 918 F.2d 1289 (7th Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. On Leong Chinese Merchants Asso​ciation Building, 918 F.2d 1289 (7th Cir. 1990)."
8th Circuit affirms forfeiture of airplane as not grossly disproportionate. (700) Claimant was met by local law enforcement after arriving at an airport in his Cessna airplane. He was intercepted at the request of U.S. Customs Service agents, who had been investigating him on suspicion of transporting illegal drugs. He consented to searches of the airplane and his truck. No contraband was found then or in later searches. The Customs Service seized the airplane and took it into custody for further testing. The owner was unable to produce registration papers for the airplane. After analyzing the proportionality of the aircraft forfeiture, the district court held that the forfeiture action based on the operation of an unregistered aircraft was not grossly disproportionate to the gravity of his offense, and thus did violate the Excessive Fines Clause. Affirmed. U.S. v. Randall Wallace, 2004 WL 2404320 (8th Cir., Oct. 28, 2004).

8th Circuit remands forfeiture judgment for Excessive Fines analysis. (700) Claimant pleaded guilty in state court to possession of a controlled substance by theft, fraud, or subterfuge. The government filed a forfeiture action against her 2000 Dodge Caravan Sport SE following her conviction. She had been arrested for obtaining and having filled fraudulent prescriptions from drug stores to which she drove the vehicle. She also used the vehicle to drive up and down the pharmacy parking lots to conduct counter-surveillance. The district court ordered forfeiture of the vehicle at the conclusion of a non-jury trial. The 8th Circuit held that the minivan was substantially connected to the claimant’s criminal activity and thus was subject to forfeiture. However, the 8th Circuit reversed and remanded for further proceedings to determine whether the facts indicate gross disproportionality under the Eighth Amendment Excessive Fines Clause. The district court was directed to consider multiple factors, including the extent and duration of the criminal conduct, the gravity of the offense weighed against the severity of the criminal sanction, and the value of the property forfeited. U.S. v. Dodge Caravan Grand SE/Sport Van, 2004 WL 2389747 (8th Cir., Oct. 27, 2004). 

8th Circuit finds double damages section of Anti-Kickback Act not an excessive fine. (700) Defendant was convicted of criminal violations of the Anti-Kickback Act of 1986, 41 U.S.C. §54 (“the Act”), served an eighteen-month sentence and paid a $5,000 fine. Thereafter, the government filed a civil action under the same Act and obtained a statutorily authorized award of $352,823.60, or double the amount of the kickbacks. The Eighth Circuit ruled that this civil penalty was not an excessive fine under the 8th Amendment. The court considered, but did not decide, the question of whether the monetary penalty imposed here was subject to the Excessive Fines Clause at all. The panel was plainly troubled by the conflicting signals from the Supreme Court in Austin v. U.S., 509 U.S. 602 (1993), which adopted an expansive test for identifying punitive sanctions subject to the Excessive Fines Clause, and U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998), which intimates that civil forfeitures and other penalties may not be subject to the Eighth Amendment at all. The court concluded that it need not decide the issue here because, even if the Eighth Amendment applied, the civil penalty imposed on the defendant was “a time-honored form of compensatory remedy,” and so not constitutionally excessive. U.S. v. Lippert, 148 F.3d 974 (8th Cir. 1998).xe "U.S. v. Lippert, 148 F.3d 974 (8th Cir. 1998)."
8th Circuit says $1.3 million forfeiture order against “secondary” fraud defendant is excessive fine. (700) A group of defendants was convicted of bank fraud, bribery, and money laundering in connection with a scheme to loot the assets of a bank being operated under the supervision of the federal Office of Thrift Supervision. With the connivance of the bank’s president, Van Brocklin, the group arranged the sale to themselves of loans from the bank’s portfolio at substantially less than their true value. The group then resold the loans at a significant profit. Three of the four defendants made large sums from the scheme; the fourth, Susan Kay Hastings, participated and was convicted for her role in the crimes, but received little or no personal profit. The trial court entered criminal forfeiture orders against all the defendants in roughly similar amounts of approximately $1.3 million. The Eighth Circuit reversed the forfeiture judgment as to defendant Hastings. It relied on the proportionality test for excessiveness articulated in U.S. v. Alexander, 32 F.3d 1231, 1236 (8th Cir. 1994), and concluded that because Hastings was a “secondary” figure in the crime who received no personal monetary benefit, a $1.3 million forfeiture was an excessive fine. U.S. v. Van Brocklin, 115 F.3d 587 (8th Cir. 1997).xe "U.S. v. Van Brocklin, 115 F.3d 587 (8th Cir. 1997)."
8th Circuit says claimant must show “gross dispro​portionality” for 8th Amendment violation. (700) Claimant was convicted of cultivating marijuana. Police seized 265 growing marijuana plants and other para​phernalia from claimant’s residence, which was seized and forfeited. The Eighth Circuit found that forfeiture of the house did not violate the Excessive Fines Clause. The court rejected the suggestion that excessive fines analysis is different for civil and criminal forfeitures. Rather, it employed a two-prong propor​tionality test: First, a claimant “has the initial burden of making a prima facie showing of ‘gross dispropor​tionality.’” Second, a “constitutionally cognizable disproportionality [must] reach such a level of excessiveness that in justice the punishment is more criminal than the crime.” Here the $60,000 value of the forfeited house was well within both the statutory maximum and guideline range for fines for the offense giving rise to the forfeiture. Claimant could not show excessiveness and the Eighth Amend​ment challenge to the forfeiture failed. U.S. v. Premises Known as 6040 Wentworth Avenue South, Minneapolis, 123 F.3d 685 (8th Cir. 1997).xe "U.S. v. Premises Known as 6040 Wentworth Avenue South, Minneapolis, 123 F.3d 685 (8th Cir. 1997)."
8th Circuit says criminal forfeiture is not discretionary like a fine. (700) In U.S. v. Bieri, 21 F.3d 819 (8th Cir. 1994), the Eighth Circuit reversed an order to forfeit only part of defendants' farm, concluding that the whole farm should be forfeited unless the district court found the forfeiture of the whole farm to be an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. On remand, the district court ordered no forfeiture, finding the imprisonment imposed enough penalty for defendants' crimes. The Eighth Circuit reversed, holding that criminal forfeiture under 21 U.S.C. §853(a)(2) is mandatory, not discretionary. The statute does not give a court discretion akin to the decision of whether to award a statutory fine. However, courts may order less than what the statutes require if necessary to avoid an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. The forfeiture of the entire farm was not an excessive fine. The extent and duration of defendant's criminal conduct was not minimal. The drug conspiracy lasted two years, and the farm was integral to the conspiracy. The value of the farm was $245,000 at the time of defendants' arrest, which was roughly equal to the wholesale value of the marijuana that was brought to the farm during the conspiracy. U.S. v. Bieri, 68 F.3d 232 (8th Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. Bieri, 68 F.3d 232 (8th Cir. 1995)."
8th Circuit remands for court to conduct proportionality analysis. (700) Defendants argued that forfeiture of their property amounted to an excessive fine and cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the 8th Amendment. The 8th Circuit remanded for the district court to conduct a proportionality analysis to determine whether the forfeiture was excessive. The 8th Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment does not apply in the context of a criminal forfeiture. However, the prohibition against excessive fines does apply because a criminal forfeiture is a "fine" for purposes of the 8th Amendment. Courts must consider the proportionality of the forfeiture. Because the court failed to conduct such an analysis, remand was required. U.S. v. Bieri, 21 F.3d 819 (8th Cir. 1994).xe "U.S. v. Bieri, 21 F.3d 819 (8th Cir. 1994)."
8th Circuit says forfeiture of $367,000 farm not excessive where property was extensively involved in marijuana growing. (700) Defen​dant argued that forfeiture of his entire farm, including the parcel where no criminal activity took place, was an excessive fine in violation of the 8th Amendment. The 8th Circuit upheld the forfeiture. A government appraisal valued the property at $367,000. Because over $400,000 was owed on the property, neither defendant nor the government would have any equity in the property. The property was extensively involved in facilitating defendant's marijuana growing operation by providing an ideal concealment of the operation. Defendant held himself out as a legitimate farmer, trucker and salvage operator, and successfully convinced others of the legitimacy of his business. The entire property was also forfeitable under 18 U.S.C. §982(a)(1) due to defendant's money laundering activities. Defendant paid for equipment and made substantial payments on the real estate contract and improvements on the property with laundered money. U.S. v. Myers, 21 F.3d 826 (8th Cir. 1994).xe "U.S. v. Myers, 21 F.3d 826 (8th Cir. 1994)."
8th Circuit holds that court can refuse for​feiture under §1955 if it is dispro​portionate. (700) Under 18 U.S.C. §1955(d), any property used in an illegal gam​bling operation "may be seized and forfeited." The 8th Circuit held that unlike mandatory provisions found in other forfeiture statutes, this language does not require an automatic forfeiture where an illegal gambling operation is shown. Courts have some discretion, and can refuse a forfeiture if it seems to work a disproportionate penalty in a particular case. However, this does not grant courts the au​thority to subdivide property in order to cre​ate a proportional forfeiture. Here, the forfei​ture of the en​tire property was proportional, even though claimants only used the second floor of the building for their gambling opera​tion. Claimant was part of a national organi​zation which facilitated gambl​ing in its mem​ber chapters. The na​tional organ​iza​tion re​ceived a percentage of the prof​its realized from the illegal gambling operations of its member chapters. U.S. v. Premises Known as 318 South Third Street, Minneapolis, Minnesota, 988 F.2d 822 (8th Cir. 1993).xe "U.S. v. Premises Known as 318 South Third Street, Minneapolis, Minnesota, 988 F.2d 822 (8th Cir. 1993)."
8th Circuit rejects constitutional challenges to seizure of non-obscene materials under RICO forfeiture provisions. (700) Defendant was convicted of selling obscene magazines and videos, tax evasion and RICO violations. Un​der the forfei​ture provisions of RICO, 28 U.S.C. §1962, the district court ordered the forfeiture of defendant's interest in his wholesale business and thirteen retail busi​nesses (bookstores and video stores) that were used in his criminal enterprise. The 8th Circuit rejected defendant's argument that the RICO forfeiture provisions unconstitu​tionally crimi​nalized non-obscene expressive material. The forfeiture of the non-obscene books and mate​rials occurred only after he was convicted of racketeering involving the sale of obscene goods. The court also rejected defen​dant's claim that the forfeiture was an unconstitu​tional prior restraint, imposed an unconstitu​tionally chilling effect on protected expression and was overbroad. The forfeiture also did not violate the 8th Amendment's pro​hibition against cruel and unusual punish​ment and ex​cessive fines. In the only other RICO obscen​ity case, the 4th Circuit held that the forfeiture of a business with to​tal annual sales of $2 mil​lion as a result of $105.30 worth of obscene material did not constitute cruel and un​usual pun​ishment or an excessive fine. Alexander v. Thornburgh, 943 F.2d 825 (8th Cir. 1991).xe "Alexander v. Thorn​burgh, 943 F.2d 825 (8th Cir. 1991)."
9th Circuit finds that forfeiture of $10,000 for failure to report $100,348 in violation of currency reporting statute was not constitutionally excessive. (700) Mayzel, an Israeli citizen, was detained at LAX by a Customs inspector, as Mayzel was about to board a flight to London. The agent told him that any cash over $10,000 would have to be reported, and asked Mayzel if he had currency exceeding $10,000. Mayzel said no and gave the inspector $348. The inspector noticed a bulge in Mayzel’s shoulder bag and asked Mayzel to open the bag. Mayzel complied, and the inspector found $100,000 inside, in ten zipper lock bags. The inspector handed Mayzel the reporting form, but Mayzel refused to fill it out. Mayzel stated in English that he wanted to talk to his attorney, that he did not have to fill out the form, and that he did not speak English. Mayzel was then detained and the currency was seized. Following an administrative forfeiture, the government filed a civil forfeiture suit. Mayzel filed a claim and answer, in which he asserting that he was merely transporting currency that belonged to Amiel, a friend of Mayzel’s uncle. The government was granted summary judgment, after the district court reduced the amount of the forfeiture from $100,348 to $10,000. Additionally, Amiel filed an untimely claim and answer, which the district court struck. In his deposition, Mayzel stated that the money he was transporting belonged to Amiel. The 9th Circuit affirmed the district court’s summary judgment to the government, finding that the district court properly denied attorney’s fees, and did not abuse its discretion in denying Amiel’s untimely, unverified claim for the funds. The 9th Circuit was presented with the “novel question whether the ‘lawful possessor’ [Mayzel] of seized currency who had Article III standing to contest the seizure” is the proper party to make an Eighth Amendment Excessive Fines challenge to the amount forfeited. The 9th Cicuit held that Mayzel indeed had first-party standing to challenge the forfeiture under the Eighth Amendment. Forfeiture judgment affirmed. U.S. v. $100,348 in U.S. Currency, 2004 WL 67876 (9th Cir., Jan. 16, 2004).

9th Circuit finds no violation of the Excessive Fines Clause where properties were sold at far above their fair market value. (700) Defendant sold nine real properties for a total of $2.6 million to undercover agents who used what was described as “drug money” to purchase the properties. She was found guilty of money laundering and cocaine distribute offenses, and the nine real properties were ordered to be criminally forfeited. The defendant filed a motion to set aside the forfeiture under the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment, asserting that the properties should be valued at the sale price of $2.6 million. She admitted that she knew the agents were offering her a price far over market value, and that they could afford to pay the higher price only because surplus cash from drug transactions was used to make the purchases. The district court denied the motion by concluding that the forfeitures were not grossly disproportionate to the gravity of her offenses. The district court estimated the value of the properties to be between $1.2 million and $1.4 million, which estimates constituted a reasonable approximation of the properties’ fair market value based on tax assessments. The 9th Circuit analyzed her gross disproportionality argument considering whether the violation was related to other illegal activities; whether the forfeiture was comparable to other penalties applicable to the offense; the severity of the harm caused by her conduct; and the relationship between the gravity of the offense and the amount of the forfeiture. The 9th Circuit noted that the defendant had actively planned and helped structure the money laundering transactions surrounding the land sales and concluded that the forfeiture was therefore not grossly disproportional to her offenses. Affirmed. U.S. v. Riedl, 2003 WL 22805176 (9th Cir., Nov. 20, 2003).

9th Circuit affirms False Claims Act civil judgment and remands for consideration of whether the statutory penalty and treble damages awarded is unconstitutionally excessive under the Eighth Amendment. (700) Defendant was owner and managing director of a physical therapy clinic. After a civil bench trial, the district court found that he “knowingly caused” false claims to be submitted to Medicare. The government was awarded a judgment of $729,454.92, based on a civil penalty for one Medicare beneficiary claim per patient for each patient for which the clinic submitted Medicare claims which exceeded the annual monetary limit (111 claims x $5,000 = $555,000), plus treble damages for Medicare overpayments of $58,151.64 ($58,151.64 x 3 = $174,454.92). Citing Bajakajian, 9th Cir. concluded that the FCA’s treble damages provision, at least in combination with the statutory penalty provision, is not solely remedial and therefore is subject to an Excessive Fines Clause analysis under the Eighth Amendment. 9th Cir. remanded to the district court to consider question whether a treble damage award would be unconstitutionally excessive. U.S. v. Mackby, 2001 WL 921177 (9th Cir. 2001) (withdrawing 243 F.3d 1159 (9th Cir. 2001)).

9th Circuit vacates and remands forfeiture order for further findings on whether the amount of the forfeiture is grossly disproportional to the gravity of the failure to report monetary instruments offense. (700) Defendant appealed the district court’s criminal forfeiture order after he pleaded guilty to a failure to report on exporting monetary instruments, in violation of 31 U.S.C. Sections 5316 and 5324. He claimed that the full forfeiture would violate the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment and that the district court did not make necessary factual findings in order to apply the “grossly disproportional” test. The Ninth Circuit noted that in Bajakajian, the Supreme Court recognized that the crime of failing to report on exporting monetary instruments was “solely a reporting offense,” and transporting currency out of the US is lawful as long as it is reported. The Court noted that Bajakajian’s criminal violation was “unrelated to any other illegal activities” and the $357,144 subject to forfeiture was not the proceeds of illegal activity. The Ninth Circuit vacated the forfeiture order and remanded to allow the district court to determine whether the amount of the forfeiture was grossly disproportional to the gravity of the defendant’s reporting offense. U.S. v. Brambila-Sanchez, 2001 WL 867980 (9th Cir. 2001) (unpublished).

9th Circuit holds jewelry forfeiture based on customs violations does not fall with purview of Excessive Fines Clause. (700) Van Rijk, a professional jeweler, attempted to transport jewels, valued at $394,000, into the United States from Canada without declaration. The Government sought forfeiture under 19 U.S.C. §1497. Van Rijk conceded that he violated federal laws but appealed, arguing that forfeiture of $394,000 worth of jewels is an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. Relying on United States v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998), the 9th Circuit held 19 U.S.C. §1497 is nonpunitive and does not fall within the purview of the Excessive Fines Clause. The district court, therefore, was correct to enter judgment of forfeiture of all jewelry that Van Rijk attempted to bring undeclared into the United States. U.S. v. Van Rijk, 2001 WL 275074 (9th Cir. 2001) (unpublished). 

9th Circuit holds that eviction from public housing for drug activity is not excessive fine. (700) The Anti-Drug Abuse Act of 1988, 42 U.S.C. §§11901 and 1437d(1)(5), requires that public housing agencies employ leases permitting termination if the leaseholder or other member of the household engages in illegal narcotics activity. Public housing tenants sued the Oakland Housing Authority, HUD, and other officials claiming that enforcement of such leases to evict tenants constituted an excessive fine, particularly where the drug activity was carried out, not by the tenant, but by another member of the household. The Ninth Circuit ruled that an eviction is not a fine subject to Eighth Amendment analysis, because it is not “an attempt by the federal government to seize tenant’s property under the civil forfeiture laws.” Rucker v. Davis, 203 F.3d 627 (9th Cir. 2000).xe "Rucker v. Davis, 203 F.3d 627 (9th Cir. 2000)."
9th Circuit holds forfeiture of dwelling owned by drug trafficker not excessive fine. (700) Claimant, a trafficker in methamphetamine, argued that the civil forfeiture of a parcel of real property violated the Exces​sive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment. The Ninth Circuit disagreed. First, the government established prob​able cause to support the forfeiture “with ample evidence [claimant] used the subject property to store and distri​bute methampheta​mine.” Second, while the forfeiture was a punitive fine for Eighth Amendment purposes, it was not “grossly disproportionate” to the gravity of claimant’s crime. The maximum monetary penalties claimant could have received were “far greater than the available equity in his home.” Finally, “the societal harm of [claimant’s] crime outweighs the harm he would suffer by forfeiting a home no member of his family resides in.” U.S. v. Real Property in the Name of Dexter F. Leslie, 203 F.3d 833 (9th Cir. 1999) (table).xe "U.S. v. Real Property in the Name of Dexter F. Leslie, 203 F.3d 833 (9th Cir. 1999) (table)."
9th Circuit finds forfeiture of house where 4½ tons of marijuana stored not excessive fine. (700) Marijuana traffickers paid defendant $45,000 for allowing them to store 4½ - 5 tons of marijuana in his home’s garage. Defendant was convicted of narcotics offenses and a criminal forfeiture count against his house. Defendant’s equity in the residence was about $48,000. The Ninth Circuit found that the forfeiture was a punishment, but was not an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment because it was not “grossly disproportionate to the gravity of defen​dant’s offense, as measured by culpability and harm caused….” The court observed that, although defendant was not a “major player in the drug ring,” he did use “his single major asset – his home – for illegal purposes.” The court also noted that the fine range under the Federal Sentencing Guidelines for defendant’s offense was $12,500 - $4 million, and that the amount of the forfeiture was comfortably within this range. Finally, the value of the forfeited property closely approximated the amount defendant was paid for his part in the crime. U.S. v. Asquini, 185 F.3d 169 (9th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Asquini, 185 F.3d 169 (9th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished)." 

9th Circuit holds additions to tax for fraud do not violate Eighth Amendment. (700) Peti​tioner was convicted of tax fraud and punished. Thereafter, the IRS levied certain additions to tax, pursuant to 26 U.S.C. §6653(b), because of the fraud. Petitioner contended these additional levies constituted excessive fines in violation of the Eighth Amendment. The Ninth Circuit found that Congress intended the additions to tax to be remedial in character – their principle purposes are “to protect the revenue and to reimburse the government for the expense of investigating fraud.” The court also noted that, unlike the forfeitures at issue in U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998), additions to tax for fraud can be imposed regardless of whether the taxpayer has been convicted of a felony, and they are not imposed as part of a criminal sentence. Louis v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, 170 F.3d 1232 (9th Cir. 1999).xe "Louis v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, 170 F.3d 1232 (9th Cir. 1999)."
9th Circuit finds forfeiture of $200,000 in fraudulently obtained mortgage proceeds was excessive fine. (700) A 70-year old widow lady filed a fraudulent loan application and obtained a $322,500 mortgage loan. Roughly $200,000 of the loan proceeds were used to pay taxes and other obligations on her residence, thus increasing her equity in the property. Upon discovering the fraud, the government did not prosecute her criminally, but filed a civil forfeiture action seeking forfeiture of the $200,000 in increased equity. The Ninth Circuit found that the $200,000 was forfeitable proceeds of the crimes of wire fraud, mail fraud, and bank fraud. However, it also concluded that the forfeiture violated the Excessive Fines Clause of Eighth Amendment. Citing U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998), the court found the amount of the forfeiture “grossly disproportional to the gravity of [claimant’s] offense.” The court found persuasive that: (1) claimant’s violation was not “related to any other illegal activities”; (2) the amount of the forfeiture ($200,000) was far greater than her probable fine under the Federal Sentencing Guidelines had she been criminally prosecuted (which the court calculated as $5,000); (3) the harm caused to the bank was low because it would recover its loss. Judge Rymer filed a spirited dissent. U.S. v. 3814 NW Thurman Street, 164 F.3d 1191 (9th Cir. 1999).xe "U.S. v. 3814 NW Thurman Street, 164 F.3d 1191 (9th Cir. 1999)."
9th Circuit suggests claimant entitled to jury trial on fact issues related to excessiveness inquiry. (700) Claimant fraudulently obtained a loan the proceeds of which were used to pay taxes and other obligations on a residence, thereby increasing claimant’s equity in the property. The government sought forfeiture of the increased equity. The Ninth Circuit found that the district court erred in failing to hold a hearing on whether the forfeiture amounted to an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. In a footnote, the court of appeals observed that claimant had a right to a jury trial “on any disputed issue of material fact,” and went on to say: “Presumably, this would include any disputed factual issues material to the excessiveness inquiry.” U.S. v. 3814 NW Thurman Street, 164 F.3d 1191 (9th Cir. 1999).xe "U.S. v. 3814 NW Thurman Street, 164 F.3d 1191 (9th Cir. 1999)."
9th Circuit remands for factfinding in ex​cessive fines challenge to forfeiture in outbound currency case. (700) In a case reminiscent of U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998), airport Customs agents stopped claimant carrying $273,969.04 in currency, as well as four pieces of jewelry. She lied on a Customs declaration form about both the money and jewelry, failed to report the currency as required by 31 U.S.C. §5316, and failed to report the jewelry as required by 19 U.S.C. §1497. She pleaded guilty to making a false statement to a Customs official, 18 U.S.C. §1001. The govern​ment sought civil forfeiture of both money and jewelry. Claimant asserted that these forfeitures violated the Excessive Fines Clause. The Ninth Circuit found no violation regarding the jewelry because Bajakajian held that Section 1497 forfeitures are “entirely remedial and thus nonpunitive.” However, the court of appeals held that currency forfeiture under 31 U.S.C. §5317 is, in part, punitive because “it is not limited by the extent of the government’s loss.” The appellate court was unable to determine whether this forfeiture was “grossly disproportional to the gravity of a defendant’s offense,” as required by Bajakajian, because the district court made no findings on whether the money was illegally acquired or intended for an illicit purpose. The case was remanded for further proceedings. [Ed. Note: Bajakajian involved a criminal forfeiture, a point Justice Thomas emphasized heavily in finding an excessive fines violation. The forfeitures here were civil, yet the Ninth Circuit ascribed no significance to that fact.] U.S. v. $273,969.04 U.S. Currency, 164 F.3d 462 (9th Cir. 1999).xe "U.S. v. $273,969.04 U.S. Currency, 164 F.3d 462 (9th Cir. 1999)."
9th Circuit holds Mandatory Victims Restitution Act does not violate 7th or 8th Amendment. (700) Defendants in this consolidated appeal were convicted of arson and bank robbery and were ordered to make restitution payments to the victims in the amount of the full value of their loss pursuant to the Mandatory Victims Restitution Act of 1996 (MVRA). Defendants argued that the MVRA violates the cruel and unusual punishments and excessive fines clauses of the Eighth Amendment. The Ninth Circuit held the MVRA is punishment, and is thus subject to the Eighth Amendment, but does not violate the Excessive Fines Clause. Unlike forfeiture cases, there is no requirement of a nexus between the property taken from the defendant for restitution and the underlying crime. Proportionality between the amount of restitution and the severity of the crime is required, but restitution set in the amount of the victim’s loss has proportionality “built in.” The court also rejected the argument that the MVRA was cruel and unusual punishment because it makes restitution orders enforceable twenty years after the completion of a defendant’s prison term. Finally, the court found no merit in the contention that “by providing for conversion of restitution orders into enforceable civil judgment liens, the MVRA violates the Seventh Amendment’s guarantee of trial by jury.” U.S. v. Dubose, 146 F.3d 1141 (9th Cir. 1998).xe "U.S. v. Dubose, 146 F.3d 1141 (9th Cir. 1998)."
9th Circuit rules forfeiture of residence used for repeated drug sales was not excessive fine. (700) Claimant was twice arrested for selling marijuana from his car. Police then searched his residence on four separate occasions in a six-month period, each time finding significant quantities of marijuana, weighing and packaging materials, and on several occasions some cocaine. The federal government forfeited the residence pursuant to 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(7). The Ninth Circuit held the forfeiture did not constitute an excessive fine. The “substantial connection or instrumentality prong” of the test for excessiveness was met by evidence of prolonged narcotics activity carried out on the premises by claimant and members of his family. Likewise, the forfeiture was not “grossly disproportionate given the nature and extent of [claimant’s] culpability.” Claimant was person​ally involved in selling drugs of substantial value from the house over a long period. The net value of the property, $21,000, was not dispropor​tionate to claimant’s culpability. U.S. v. Real Property Located at 25445 Via Dona Christa, Valencia, California, 138 F.3d 403 (9th Cir. 1998).xe "U.S. v. Real Property Located at 25445 Via Dona Christa, Valencia, California, 138 F.3d 403 (9th Cir. 1998)."
9th Circuit holds due process and excessive fines claims not cognizable under §2255. (700) Petitioner was convicted of racketeering, conspiracy, and money laundering. He later filed a motion under 28 U.S.C. §2255 seeking (1) to vacate the forfeiture on the grounds that it violated both the Due Process and Excessive Fines Clauses, and (2) to vacate his criminal conviction and sentence on the ground that a prior civil forfeiture action constituted former jeopardy and thus barred his prosecution. The Ninth Circuit ruled that the challenge to the forfeiture was not cognizable under Section 2255, “which confers jurisdiction only over challenges to one’s conviction or sentence.” The court also rejected the double jeopardy claim on the merits, citing U.S. v. Ursery, 518 U.S. 267 (1996) (holding that “in rem civil forfeitures are neither ‘punishment’ nor criminal for purposes of the Double Jeopardy Clause). U.S. v. Gable, 112 F.3d 517 (9th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Gable, 112 F.3d 517 (9th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished)."
9th Circuit says that to survive Excessive Fines challenge, forfeiture must be "propor​tional" to culpability of owner. (700) The Ninth Circuit applies a two prong approach to determine whether a simple forfeiture imposes an excessive fine. Under the "instrumentality" or "nexus" test, the property must have "a close enough relationship to the offense to permit its confiscation to any extent." Second, the value of the property must be "proportional to the culpability of the owner." In this case, the court held that the currency the claimant failed to report on exiting the country was an "instrumen​tality" of the crime and that there was a "perfect proportionality" between the culpability of the currency and the forfeiture. However, as noted in U.S. v. Busher, 817 F.2d 1407 (9th Cir. 1987), this "merely states the issue." Since money is not contraband, it did not have a close relationship to the crime simply because it had not been reported. The court distinguished One Lot Emerald Cut Stones v. U.S., 409 U.S. 232 (1972) on the ground that the crime here was failure to report, not the smuggling of dutiable items. The case was remanded for findings under the two pronged test. U.S. v. $69,292.00 in U.S. Currency (Faheemi), 62 F.3d 1161 (9th Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. $69,292.00 in U.S. Currency (Faheemi), 62 F.3d 1161 (9th Cir. 1995)."
9th Circuit says loss of property after dismissal of forfeiture complaint did not violate excessive fines clause. (700) The forfeiture complaint was dismissed pursuant to a voluntary agreement between the parties and all the properties were returned to defendant, so no forfeiture was actually imposed. Nevertheless defendant argued that her subsequent loss of two of the properties in foreclosure sales constituted a "forfeiture" and therefore was "punishment" that would trigger the protections of the "excessive fines" clause. See Austin v. U.S., 509 U.S. 602 (1993). The Ninth Circuit rejected the argument, concluding that the civil forfeiture proceeding did not result in any forfeiture and therefore the excessive fines clause was never implicated. U.S. v. Kearns, 61 F.3d 1422 (9th Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. Kearns, 61 F.3d 1422 (9th Cir. 1995)."
9th Circuit adopts two-pronged test to decide whether civil forfeiture is excessive fine. (700) In Austin v. U.S., 509 U.S. 602 (1993), the Supreme Court held that civil forfeitures under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(7) serve in part as punishment and are therefore subject to the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on excessive fines. In response to Austin, the Ninth Circuit in this case adopted a two-pronged approach for determining whether a forfeiture of real property constitutes an excessive fine. First, the forfeiture must have been proper in the sense that the property must have been an "instrumentality" of the crime (a "nexus" must exist between the property and the offense). Second, the worth of the property must be "proportional" (not excessive) to the culpability of the owner. Where the forfeiture of a single tract of property would contravene the Excessive Fines Clause, "the court should limit it to an appropriate portion or the more poisonously tainted portion of the property." U.S. v. Real Property Located in El Dorado County, 59 F.3d 974 (9th Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. Real Property Located in El Dorado County, 59 F.3d 974 (9th Cir. 1995)."
9th Circuit says guidelines do not allow for departure for a civil forfeiture. (700) The district court departed downward one level because defendant lost his family home in civil forfeiture proceedings after he was con​victed of manufacturing marijuana plants. On appeal, the 9th Circuit agreed with the 3rd Circuit's opinion in U.S. v. Shirk, 981 F.2d 1382, 1397 (3d Cir. 1992), vacated on other grounds in light of Ratzlaf v. U.S., 510 U.S. 135, 114 S.Ct. 655 (1994), that a court may not base a downward departure on the fact that defen​dant has had property taken by civil forfei​ture. As noted in Shirk, the guidelines state in §5E1.4 that "forfeiture is to be im​posed . . . as provided by statute." This means that the Commission viewed monetary forfeiture as entirely distinct from the issue of imprisonment. In a footnote, the court noted that the Supreme Court in Austin v. U.S., 509 U.S. 602 (1993) held that forfeit​ure is a form of punishment which is subject to the limitations of the Excessive Fines Clause of the 8th Amendment. The fact that a given of​fense may result in several types of punish​ment "does not restrict the power of Congress to pro​vide, within Constitutional boundaries, how the various types of punishment are to be imposed." U.S. v. Crook, 9 F.3d 1422 (9th Cir. 1993).xe "U.S. v. Crook, 9 F.3d 1422 (9th Cir. 1993)."
9th Circuit holds Eighth Amendment propor​tionality review does not apply to in rem for​feiture actions. (700) In U.S. v. Busher, 817 F.2d 1409 (1987), the Ninth Circuit held that the Eighth Amendment proportionality re​quirement an​nounced in Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277 (1983); was applicable to criminal forfeiture cases. However, citing the historical differ​ences between civil ("in rem") and crimi​nal ("in personam") forfeitures, the 9th Circuit held that the proportionality re​quirement did not apply to civil forfeiture actions. Never​theless, the dis​trict court may "exercise judicial restraint" and limit the forfeiture to the value of the portion of the property actually used to grow the mari​juana. In the present case, the defen​dant had 143 young marijuana plants growing over his garage, al​though many were not more than an inch high. The district court "cor​rectly con​cluded that this was not a case for judicial re​straint." U.S. v. Tax Lot 1500, 861 F.2d 232 (9th Cir. 1988).xe "U.S. v. Tax Lot 1500, 861 F.2d 232 (9th Cir. 1988)."
9th Circuit holds forfeiture provision is mandatory but dis​trict court must still con​sider whether it vi​olates the Eighth Amend​ment. (700) The for​feiture provision of 21 U.S.C. 853 is man​datory leaving the district court no dis​cretion to avoid exces​sively harsh or for​tui​tous applica​tions. The district court, how​ever, has the constitutional responsibil​ity to assure that the forfeiture pro​ceeding does not inflict excessive punishment in vi​ola​tion of the Eighth Amend​ment. In mak​ing this de​termination the court may take into account relevant considerations in​cluding the value of the illegal drugs cultivated on the property, and the nexus between the por​tion of the property actually used to grow the mari​juana plants and the rest of the land. U.S. v. Littlefield, 821 F.2d 1365 (9th Cir. 1987).xe "U.S. v. Littlefield, 821 F.2d 1365 (9th Cir. 1987)."
9th Circuit remands RICO forfeiture to de​termine whether it violated the Eighth Amendment. (700) De​fendant, a de​fense con​tractor, was convicted of RICO viola​tions and the jury found that his entire interest in two corporations and certain Nevada real estate were forfeitable to the government. The 9th Circuit held that even though the RICO statute pro​vides no dis​cretion for the trial judge, the judge must nevertheless determine whether a RICO forfeiture is so disproportionate to the offense as to vio​late the Eighth Amendment's prohibi​tion against cruel and unusual punish​ment. The case was remanded for findings on this issue. U.S. v. Busher, 817 F.2d 1409 (9th Cir. 1987).xe "U.S. v. Busher, 817 F.2d 1409 (9th Cir. 1987)."
10th Circuit finds the district court insufficiently analyzed its finding that forfeiture of facilitating real property was not grossly disproportionate. (700) After suspect was arrested for possession of marijuana, he identified the residence where he’d purchased the marijuana and agreed to arrange another purchase there. A consent search of the property produced a large bag of marijuana, scales, steroids, cash and 15 firearms. Five days later, a search warrant was executed at the residence, and more drug-related paraphernalia were found. The government filed a civil in rem action against the property, alleging it to be facilitating real property. The property owner, who was not prosecuted, asserted that the forfeiture constituted an unconstitutionally excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. At jury trial, the judge determined that the forfeiture was not grossly disproportionate. The Tenth Circuit found that the owner’s Bajakajian excessive fines argument was underdeveloped in the trial record, and remanded for a more thorough proportionality analysis. U.S. v. Wagoner County Real Estate, 278 F.3d 1091 (10th Cir. 2002).

10th Circuit holds forfeiture of house and car not excessive fine in case involving 12.1 grams of cocaine. (700) Defendant pleaded guilty to possession with intent to distribute 12.1 grams of cocaine, as well as to a criminal forfeiture count alleging that she used her house and car to facilitate drug transactions. Defendant argued in a §2255 petition that these forfeitures amounted to an excessive fine under the Eighth Amend​ment and the rule of U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998). The Tenth Circuit found that forfeiture of a 1991 Chrysler New Yorker and $6,000 equity in a $60,000 home was not “grossly disproportionate” to the drug offense of which defendant was convicted. U.S. v. Johnson, 182 F.3d 934 (10th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Johnson, 182 F.3d 934 (10th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished)."
10th Circuit denies constitutional claims in Rule 60(b) motion. (700) The government successfully prosecuted claimant Donald Austin for money laundering, and also filed a related civil forfeiture action in Colorado seeking forfeiture of real property in New Mexico. The Tenth Circuit found that the Colorado District Court lacked in rem jurisdiction over the New Mexico property, but had in personam juris​diction over the record owner of the property, Nitsua Management (a company controlled by claimant Austin). U.S. v. 51 Pieces of Real Property, 17 F.3d 1306 (10th Cir. 1994). Consequently, the district court could enter judgment against Nitsua. In May 1997, Austin filed a Fed. R. Civ. P. 60(b) motion, alleging that the judgment was void because it violated the double jeopardy and excessive fines clauses. The Tenth Circuit ruled that the forfeiture order against Nitsua was not prior jeopardy. The Colorado forfeiture proceeding retained its character as an in rem civil forfeiture even though the asserted basis of jurisdiction was in personam. Moreover, Austin was not a party to the forfeiture, despite the fact that the order of forfeiture rested in part on the determination that Nitsua was the alter ego of Austin. The Tenth Circuit also denied claimant’s excessive fines claim. U.S. v. 51 Pieces of Real Property, Roswell, New Mexico, 153 F.3d 729 (10th Cir. 1998) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. 51 Pieces of Real Property, Roswell, New Mexico, 153 F.3d 729 (10th Cir. 1998) (table) (unpublished)."
10th Circuit summarily rejects double jeopardy claim based on “unauthorized for​feiture.” (700) Defendant raised for the first time on appeal the contention that his conviction for possession with intent to distribute methamphetamine violated the Double Jeopardy Clause because the officers who arrested him failed to account for $140 in cash allegedly on his person. The court summarily rejected this argument, noting that an authorized forfeiture does not constitute double jeopardy, “let alone an unauthorized forfeiture.” U.S. v. Black, 125 F.3d 863 (10th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Black, 125 F.3d 863 (10th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished)."
10th Circuit holds that forfeiture of all of defendant's assets was not excessive where it was less than authorized fine. (700) Defendant agreed, as part of his plea agreement, to plead guilty to a CCE count and to forfeit all of his assets. He argued that the forfeiture order violated the Excessive Fines Clause of the 8th Amendment. The 10th Circuit held that the forfeiture was not excessive, since the total amount of his forfeiture and fine was less than permitted for a CCE offense. The guidelines and 21 U.S.C. §848(a) permit a fine of up to $2 million and forfeiture for a CCE offense. Defendant was fined only $5,000. The plea agreement stated that property up to $1.5 million could be forfeited, yet the actual value of the property forfeited was only $410,000. U.S. v. Libretti, 38 F.3d 523 (10th Cir. 1994), aff'd, Libretti v. U.S., 516 U.S. 29 (1995).xe "U.S. v. Libretti, 38 F.3d 523 (10th Cir. 1994), aff'd, Libretti v. U.S., 516 U.S. 29 (1995)."
10th Circuit holds that forfeiture statute al​lows forfei​ture of entire sum of money even if only a portion of it was used for illegal pur​poses. (700) 21 U.S.C. §853(a)(2) pro​vides that a person convicted of violating cer​tain criminal statutes shall forfeit any property "used or intended to be used, in any manner or part, to com​mit, or to facilitate the commission of, such violation." Agreeing with the 9th Cir​cuit, the 10th Circuit held that this statutory language "allows the forfeiture of prop​erty in its entirety even if only a portion of it was used for il​legal purposes." Thus the court rejected the de​fendant's argument that the jury should have been al​lowed to deter​mine how much of the $413,493 in cur​rency was used to facil​itate possession of marijuana. The court also ruled that there was a sufficient "nexus" with the il​legal activity, and that the forfeiture was not dispropor​tionate under the 8th Amendment. U.S. v. Harris, 903 F.2d 770 (10th Cir. 1990).

10th Circuit rules forfeiture of drug proceeds did not violate the Eighth Amendment Excessive Fines Clause. (700) The government forfeited $189,825.00 hidden in the gas tank of a pickup truck. On appeal, the 10th Circuit rejected appellants’ claim that the forfeiture violated the Eighth Amendment Excessive Fines Clause. The court held that forfeiture of drug proceeds does not violate the Eighth Amendment, reasoning that such forfeiture can never be constitutionally excessive because proceeds produced by an individual drug trafficker are “always roughly equivalent to the costs that drug trafficker has imposed on society." United States v. $189,825.00 in U.S. Currency, 216 F.3d 1089 (10th Cir. 2000) 

Eleventh Circuit held that district court did not give weight to likely fine under Sentencing Guidelines and thus remanded for proper determination of forfeitable amount before  excessiveness question could be addressed. (700) The claimant challenged the district court's final order granting the government's motion for summary judgment and forfeiting $49,000 of the $59,000 in currency he failed to report as he was leaving the United States on a flight to Guatemala. The underlying basis of the forfeiture as 31 U.S.C. §5316(a)(1)(A), which requires a person to file a report when knowingly transporting more than $10,000 in currency from the United States to anywhere outside the United States. The government commenced a civil forfeiture action against the money, pursuant to 31 U.S.C. §5317(c)(2). At an evidentiary hearing the government contended that the entire amount should be forfeited because the criminal fine for failing to file a currency report has a statutory maximum of $250,000, and thus civil forfeiture of $59,000 was not an excessive fine.  The government did not put forth any evidence that the currency was narcotics proceeds or laundered money, and the only evidence of the source of the funds was the claimant's deposition testimony that he saved the money over a nine-year period while working in the United States, and his pay stubs. The government argued that the claimant had not paid any taxes on his wages, which the claimant contested. In response, the claimant stressed that even if he were to be prosecuted for a §5316 violation, the advisory sentencing guidelines range for someone with no criminal history would be 0 to 6 months' imprisonment and a fine range of $500 to $5,000.  The district court rejected the government's argument that the court should view the claimant as having committed the crime of tax evasion, because some taxes were in fact paid. On appeal, the claimant argued that the forfeited $49,000 was nearly ten times the maximum guidelines-advised fine of $5,000, and was grossly disproportional to the gravity of what was solely a reporting crime. The government argued that the district court gave the claimant a windfall when it ordered that $10,000 be returned to him. After review and oral argument, the appellate court did not reach the excessive fines constitutional issue because the district court in the first instance did not follow the proper standard in determining what amount should be forfeited in this case. First, the district court mistakenly concluded that where the statute authorizes a maximum fine of greater than $25,000, the criminal Sentencing Guidelines maximum does not apply and the statutory maximum applies instead. That is not the law. Instead, the sentencing guidelines maximum fine amount applies unless the defendant is convicted under a statute authorizing a maximum fine greater than $250,000, according to U.S.S.G. §5E1.2(c)(4).  Even if the district court's reference to $25,000 was a typographical error and the court meant $250,000, the relevant statute, 31 U.S.C. §5322, does not authorize a fine “greater than” $250,000 but only up to a maximum of $250,000. Thus, in any event, the district court erred in concluding that the sentencing guidelines fine range did not apply to §5316 violations. Second, the district court failed to follow Supreme Court guidance from Bajakajian v. U.S., inter alia, as to the role of the sentencing guidelines fine range in determining the proper forfeiture amount, arguably more important than the statutory maximum.  If the value of the property forfeited is within or near the permissible range of fines under the sentencing guidelines, the forfeiture almost is not excessive. Here, although the statutory maximum fine was $250,000, the advisory sentencing guidelines recommendation would be a $500 to $5,000 fine, and thus the $49,000 be forfeited was well within the $250,000 statutory maximum but nearly ten times the maximum suggested by the sentencing guidelines. The question, then, becomes whether the presumption of constitutionality is overcome under the facts of the case. The appellate court did not decide this issue, however, because the district court did not give any weight to the fact that the claimant's sentencing guidelines range was only $500 to $5,000. In fact, the government led the district court down the wrong path by arguing that the statutory maximum was the touchstone. Thus, they vacated the district court's order of forfeiture and remanded for a re-determination of the forfeiture amount. U.S. v. Fifty Nine Thousand Dollars ($59,000.00), in U.S. Currency, 2008 WL 2485594 (11th Cir. 2008) (June 23, 2008).

11th Circuit holds forfeiture of doctor’s medical license not excessive fine. (700) A federal criminal jury convicted a Georgia doctor of illegal distribution of drugs, and also returned a forfeiture verdict against his license to practice medicine. The Eleventh Circuit held that forfeiture of the license did not constitute an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. Defendant was convicted of 200 counts of illegally distributing over 2 million milligrams of Percodan, which for Sentencing Guidelines purposes is the equivalent of more than 1100 kilograms of marijuana. In light of the severe incarcerative and monetary penalties prescribed by statute and the Sentencing Guidelines for such conduct, the court could not find the forfeiture “grossly disproportionate to the gravity of [defendant’s] crimes.” U.S. v. Dicter, 198 F.3d 1284 (11th Cir. 1999).xe "U.S. v. Dicter, 198 F.3d 1284 (11th Cir. 1999)."
11th Circuit examines statutory and Guidelines fines to decide forfeiture of house is not excessive fine. (700) The government sought civil forfeiture of claimant’s residence after he was convicted on state drug charges on the basis of four sales of cocaine totaling about sixty grams. He contended that the forfeiture constituted an excessive fine. The Eleventh Circuit applied the gross disproportionality test of U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998), and upheld the forfeiture. The court compared the $70,000 value of the home to both the maximum statutory fine and the maximum fine prescribed by the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines for defendant’s conduct. Since the maximum statutory and Guidelines fine was $1,000,000, the court concluded that the forfeiture was not unconstitutionally excessive. U.S. v. 817 N.E. 29th Drive, 175 F.3d 1304 (11th Cir. 1999).xe "U.S. v. 817 N.E. 29th Drive, 175 F.3d 1304 (11th Cir. 1999)."
11th Circuit says offender characteristics do not determine constitutional excessive​ness. (700) When the government forfeited claimant’s $70,000 residence, he argued that the forfeiture was an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. In addition to arguing that the forfeiture of the house was excessive per se when compared with the gravity of the underlying drug offense, claimant contended that his particular circumstances rendered the forfeiture excessive. He pointed out that the property was his personal residence, and he would be unable to purchase another residence because he had no other assets and was permanently disabled. The Eleventh Circuit rejected his claim. Whether a forfeiture is an excessive fine “is determined by comparing the amount of the forfeiture to the gravity of the offense … and not by comparing the amount of the forfeiture to the amount of the owner’s assets. In other words, excessiveness is determined in relation to the characteristics of the offense, not in relation to the characteristics of the offender.” U.S. v. 817 N.E. 29th Drive, 175 F.3d 1304 (11th Cir. 1999).xe "U.S. v. 817 N.E. 29th Drive, 175 F.3d 1304 (11th Cir. 1999)."
11th Circuit reaffirms that Excessive Fines Clause is applicable to civil in rem gambling forfeitures. (700) Certain language in Justice Thomas’ opinion in U.S. v. Bajakajian, 118 S.Ct. 2028, 2036 (1998), raised doubts about whether the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment is applicable to modern civil in rem forfeitures. See, e.g., U.S. v. Real Property Known and Numbered as 415 E. Mitchell Ave., 149 F.3d 472, 477 n.3 (6th Cir. 1998). In this gambling forfeiture case, the Eleventh Circuit noted the uncertainty, but relied on its prior opinion in U.S. v. One Single Family Residence Located at 18755 North Bay Road, 13 F.3d 1493 (11th Cir. 1994), to conclude that the Excessive Fines Clause does apply to civil forfeitures under 18 U.S.C. §1955. U.S. v. Land, Winston County, 163 F.3d 1295 (11th Cir. 1998).xe "U.S. v. Land, Winston County, 163 F.3d 1295 (11th Cir. 1998)."
11th Circuit remands for factfinding on excessive fines issue. (700) The government forfeited a gambling club pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1955. The owner of the property asserted that the forfeiture was an excessive fine in violation of the Eighth Amendment because the value of the property was approximately $100,000 and the persons who actually ran the gambling operation pleaded guilty to misdemeanors and were fined $3,000. The Eleventh Circuit agreed with claimant that the excessive fines issue should have been addressed on its merits by the district court. On remand, the district court should perform a proportionality analysis comparing the severity of the forfeiture with the severity of the underlying offense. U.S. v. Land, Winston County, 163 F.3d 1295 (11th Cir. 1998).xe "U.S. v. Land, Winston County, 163 F.3d 1295 (11th Cir. 1998)."
11th Circuit uses proportionality test to deter​mine whether forfeiture is excessive fine. (700) On two occasions, claimant sold cocaine from his grocery store near a junior high school. When police arrested him, they found three grams of cocaine in his pockets. Claimant argued that the forfeiture of the store, valued at $65,000, was an excessive fine. The Eleventh Circuit applied a "proportionality test" to determine whether the fine is excessive given the offense for which the owner is being punished. Here, claimant was not convicted of a violation of the Controlled Substance Act, and the legitimate grocery was his primary source of livelihood. However, claim​ant's crime was serious, and would have been punishable by 15‑21 months in prison and a mandatory fine of $4‑40,000. He also was found with marijuana, large amounts of cash, bullets and a gun, within close proximity to a junior high school. Given this, the forfeiture of a $65,000 piece of property was not excessive. U.S. v. One Parcel Property Located at 427 and 429 Hall Street, Montgom​ery, Alabama, 74 F.3d 1165 (11th Cir. 1996).xe "U.S. v. One Parcel Property Located at 427 and 429 Hall Street, Montgom​ery, Alabama, 74 F.3d 1165 (11th Cir. 1996)."
11th Circuit holds forfeiture of $150,000 home for running poker games was dispropor​tionate. (700) Claimant held poker games for his friends and associates on Wednesday nights at his home whenever "enough people showed up." The 11th Cir​cuit held that forfeiture of the $150,000 home was a disproportionate penalty that violated the 8th Amendment. The court agreed with the 8th Circuit's decision in U.S. v. Premises Known as 318 South Third Street, 988 F.2d 822 (8th Cir. 1993) to uphold the forfeiture of a house used for a gambling business. However, the underlying facts were mate​rially different there. There, the gambling was run by an association that was a member of a national orga​nization which facilitated gambling by its member chapters. Here, the poker game was held for claimant's family and friends. U.S. v. One Single Family Residence Located at 18755 North Bay Road, Miami, 13 F.3d 1493 (11th Cir. 1994).xe "U.S. v. One Single Family Residence Located at 18755 North Bay Road, Miami, 13 F.3d 1493 (11th Cir. 1994)."
11th Circuit upholds forfeiture of entire prop​erty based upon one drug transaction. (700) Claimant contended that forfeiture of his en​tire property would be dispro​portionate, since only one drug transaction took place in the driveway of his residence. The 11th Circuit upheld the forfeiture. The 8th Amendment proportionality ar​guments cited by defen​dant do not apply in civil forfei​ture cases. The for​feiture statute explicitly allows for forfeiture of entire parcels. The use of the property for the drug deal was neither incidental or fortuitous, since defendant expressly arranged for it to oc​cur there. U.S. v. Real Property and Residence at 3097 S.W. 111th Av​enue, Miami, Florida, 921 F.2d 1551 (11th Cir. 1991).xe "U.S. v. Real Property and Residence at 3097 S.W. 111th Av​enue, Miami, Florida, 921 F.2d 1551 (11th Cir. 1991)."
11th Circuit holds that decision as to whether Eighth Amendment is impli​cated by forfeiture is not required because forfeiture was not dis​proportionate. (700) A convicted drug con​spirator claimed that forfeiture of all his real estate holdings, valued at $30,000, was cruel and unusual pun​ishment after he had been sentenced to 10 years in prison. The 11th Cir​cuit disagreed, but declined to follow the 9th Circuit's holding in U.S. v. Littlefield, 821 F.2d 1365 (9th Cir. 1987), that the Eighth Amend​ment is im​plicated by forfeitures. It found that the for​feiture was not dispro​portionate under Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277 (1983), consider​ing that the defendant could have been fined up to one million dollars. The court stated that it would await a better factual setting in which to decide the Constitutional issue. U.S. v. Monroe, 866 F.2d 1357 (11th Cir. 1989). xe "U.S. v. Monroe, 866 F.2d 1357 (11th Cir. 1989). "
11th Circuit rules forfeiture of $119,000 home based on drug offense with guideline level fine of $250,000 and maximum statutory fine of $4,000,000 did not constitute an excessive fine. (700) After the petitioner was found guilty of cocaine offenses, the government filed a civil complaint against his home on the grounds that petitioner had delivered 15 kilos of cocaine to a cooperating individual on the property. The Eleventh Circuit rejected petitioner’s excessive fines claim and reasoned that the forfeiture of a house valued at $119,000 did not violate the Excessive Fines Clause because the sentencing guideline level for drug trafficking convictions suggested a fine of $250,000, and the maximum statutory fine was $4,000,000. U.S. v. One Parcel of Real Estate at 10380 SW 28th St., 214 F.3d 1291 (11th Cir. 2000)

D. C. Circuit finds that FCC imposition of $11,000 forfeiture on an unlicensed operator of a low-power FM station did not violate the Excessive Fines Clause. (700) The unlicensed operator of Grid Radio, a low-power FM radio station, was ordered by the FCC under 27 U.S.C. Section 301 to cease broadcasting and to pay an ancillary forfeiture of $11,000. Although the station operator knew of the FCC licensing microbroadcasting ban, he challenged the FCC order and forfeiture as unreasonable and excessive. An ALJ upheld the FCC’s motion for summary decision, issued a cease-and-desist order, and imposed the forfeiture. After he continued to broadcast, the FCC filed suit in district court to compel compliance, and he again was ordered to stop broadcasting. The D.C.Circuit affirmed the FCC’s cease-and-desist order and upheld the $11,000 forfeiture, finding it to be neither indefinite, unlimited, or excessive in view of his continued and willful violation of the FCC licensing requirement. Grid Radio v. Federal Communications Commission, 278 F.3d 1314 (D.C. Cir 2002).

Alabama District Court holds forfeiture of real property valued at approximately $125,000 which facilitated sale of 25.1 grams of powder cocaine and unspecified quantity of “crack’ cocaine not unconstitutionally excessive. (700) The government filed a civil forfeiture action against claimants’ residence under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(7), alleging the defendant-property was the situs of discussions to purchase powder cocaine, and where an unspecified quantity of crack was distributed. The district court rejected claimants’ excessive fines argument, reasoning that the value of the forfeited property was substantially less than the statutory maximum fine of $1,000,000, and not “grossly disproportional” to the maximum fine range set by the Federal Sentencing Guidelines of $75,000. Additionally, the court declared that where, as here, the maximum statutory fine exceeds $250,000, the sentencing guidelines provide that the maximum guidelines fine “does not apply” and that “the court may impose a fine up to the maximum authorized by the statute.” U.S.S.G. §5E1.2(c)(4). U.S. v. One Parcel Property Located at 7079 Chilton County Road 37, 123 F. Supp. 2d 602 (M.D. Ala. 2000).

Alabama District Court says excessiveness measured in relation to crime, not claimant’s wealth. (700) The government sought civil forfeiture of two parcels of property used by claimant and members of her family to sell cocaine. Claimant alleged that the forfeitures constituted excessive fines under the Eighth Amendment because she was indigent. The district court rejected her argument, observing that “inquiry under the [excessive fines] clause focuses on whether the forfeiture is ‘too much’ given the owner’s offense, not on whether the owner is able to afford the fine imposed by the forfeiture.” U.S. v. Two Parcels of Real Property Located at 101 North Liberty Street, 80 F.Supp.2d 1298 (M.D. Ala. 2000).xe "U.S. v. Two Parcels of Real Property Located at 101 North Liberty Street, 80 F.Supp.2d 1298 (M.D. Ala. 2000)."
Alabama District Court compares value of forfeited property to fine amount and finds no excessive fine. (700) The government sought civil forfeiture of two parcels of real property that were the sites of crack cocaine transactions. Claimant alleged that forfeiture of the property would constitute an excessive fine. The district court noted that one method of determining constitutional excessiveness is to compare the equity value of the forfeited property with the maximum statutory fine for the underlying illegal conduct, and to the fine range prescribed by the Federal Sentencing Guidelines. In this case, the total value of the property was $24,100, a sum well within the range of fines prescribed by Congress and the sentencing guidelines. Accordingly, the forfeiture was not an excessive fine. U.S. v. Two Parcels of Real Property Located at 101 North Liberty Street, 80 F.Supp.2d 1298 (M.D. Ala. 2000).xe "U.S. v. Two Parcels of Real Property Located at 101 North Liberty Street, 80 F.Supp.2d 1298 (M.D. Ala. 2000)."
Alabama District Court finds forfeiture of car of drug dealer’s girlfriend was excessive fine. (700) State police officers stopped an Isuzu Trooper for speeding, smelled marijuana, searched the car, and found eleven grams of marijuana, $2,000 cash, and a handgun. The driver, who was the owner’s boyfriend, was prosecuted in state court and the car was subjected to federal forfeiture. The district court found probable cause for the stop, the search, and the forfeiture of the vehicle. The court also found that the owner failed to establish an innocent owner defense under the objective standard adopted by the Eleventh Circuit in U.S. v. One 1980 Bertram 58’ Motor Yacht, 876 F.2d 884 (11th Cir. 1989). She was unaware of her boyfriend’s use of the car for illegal purposes on this occasion, but was aware of his general involvement in drugs and failed to introduce evidence showing that she took affirmative steps to prevent illegal use of her vehicle. However, the court nonetheless found that the forfeiture constituted an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. The court applied a “totality of the circumstances” test and considered the fact that the owner had no personal involvement in the crime, the possible Guidelines sentence for the underlying offense, and the fact that the boyfriend was convicted of only simple possession in state court. U.S. v. One 1992 Isuzu Trooper, 51 F.Supp.2d 1268 (M.D. Ala. 1999).xe "U.S. v. One 1992 Isuzu Trooper, 51 F.Supp.2d 1268 (M.D. Ala. 1999)."
California District Court grants in part and denies in part government’s motion for summary judgment, holding that the only remaining issue is whether the forfeiture of $100,348 violates the Excessive Fines Clause. (700) Claimant violated the currency reporting laws when, just before boarding his flight, he did not accurately report the currency in his carry-on bag. Customs seized the $100,348 for violation of the currency reporting laws. Finding that the government had probable cause to institute the 31 U.S.C. Section 5317 forfeiture proceeding and that the innocent owner defense did not apply to claimant, the district court entered judgment on those issues for the government. The court then ordered an evidentiary hearing for the parties to present evidence relevant to whether forfeiture of the currency constitutes an excessive fine prohibited by the Eighth Amendment. U.S. v. $100,348 in U.S. Currency, 157 F.Supp.2d 1110 (C.D.Ca. 2001). 

California District Court holds excessive fines claim not cognizable in Rule 60(b) motion. (700) Claimant was convicted of smuggling 56 tons of marijuana and hashish into San Francisco. The government also seized and civilly forfeited $292,888.04 in currency. Following an unsuccessful appeal of the civil forfeiture judgment against the cash, claimant filed a Rule 60(b), Fed. R. Civ. P., motion seeking return of the funds or other equitable relief. He argued, inter alia, that the forfeiture constituted an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. The district court that this claim did “not concern the District Court’s jurisdiction or its authority to enter the judgment,” and thus was not cognizable under Rule 60(b). U.S. v. $292,888.04, 1999 WL 1012320 (N.D. Cal. 1999) (not reported in F.Supp.).xe "U.S. v. $292,888.04, 1999 WL 1012320 (N.D. Cal. 1999) (not reported in F.Supp.)."
Connecticut District Court finds forfeiture of residence used to grow marijuana not excessive under the Eighth Amendment. (700) After the defendant was found guilty of marijuana charges in state court, the government filed a civil forfeiture action under CAFRA against the claimant's home in which he allegedly grew marijuana. Claimant motioned the district court under CAFRA to determine whether forfeiture of the property would be constitutionally excessive, and if so, to reduce or eliminate the forfeiture as necessary to avoid a violation of the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment. In its excessive fines analysis, the Connecticut District Court considered the essence of the claimant's crime and its relation to other criminal activity; whether the claimant fit into a class of persons for whom the statute was principally designed; the maximum sentence and fine that could have been imposed; and, the nature of the harm caused by his conduct. The district court concluded that the claimant's interest in the residence was valued at $124,000, the marijuana growing operation was relatively minor, and the state court did not impose a fine in the claimant's criminal case where he was centrally involved in the illegal growing, use, and distribution of marijuana for about a year, had pled guilty to the sale of marijuana, the harm to the community from his drug offense was substantial, the statutory maximum penalties under federal law included a $1 million fine, and the recommended fine under the Sentencing Guidelines was $40,000. The district court found the forfeiture of the owner's interest in his residence was not excessive. Motion denied. U.S. v. One Parcel of Propery Located at 32 Medley Lane, 2005 WL 1341135 (D. Conn., May 31, 2005).

Georgia District Court finds that the forfeiture of defendants’ residence after they were convicted of the sexual exploitation of minors was not unconstitutionally excessive. (700) The defendants were convicted of sexually exploiting minors, and the jury found that their house and some personal property were subject to criminal forfeiture. The M.D.Ga. district court signed a Final Order of Forfeiture, indicating that the government had provided notice of the forfeiture and third-party claims had been satisfied. Defendants then moved to vacate the Order, arguing that the forfeiture of their house violated the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment because it was not sufficiently related to the offenses committed. They also argued that the forfeiture of their house was unconstitutionally excessive because they had continued to pay the mortgage and property taxes. The M.D.Ga. district court found that the defendants’ $12,000 equity in the house was not grossly disproportionate to the gravity of their offenses, their mortgage and tax argument unavailing, and thus denied the defendant’s motion to vacate. U.S. v. Young, 2001 WL 1644658 (M.D. Ga. 2001).

Hawaii District Court holds that factors to determine whether forfeiture violates the Excessive Fines Clause include nature and extent of criminal activity, its relation to other crimes, its penalties, and the harm it caused. (700) Defendant was convicted of cocaine distribution offenses and five counts of money laundering. The jury also found by special verdict that nine properties owned by the defendant were involved in the money laundering offenses and were subject to forfeiture. She moved to set aside the forfeiture of the properties as an Excessive Fine under the Eighth Amendment. The maximum statutory fine for the five money laundering offenses was $1.25 million, which equaled approximately the net value of the forfeited properties. The Hawaii district court analyzed the amount of fines authorized by the Sentencing Guidelines for the offense committed, the relation of the violation to other illegal activities, and the extent of harm caused. The Hawaii district court concluded that the value of the forfeited properties had a direct proportionality to the gravity of the defendant’s offenses, and denied the motion. U.S. v. Riedl, 164 F.Supp.2d 1196 (D.Hawaii 2001). 

Illinois District Court denies F.R.Civ.P. 65 motion for injunctive relief in freezing of alleged terrorist-related funds. (700) On December 14, 2001, FBI agents searched the headquarters of Chicago-based Global Relief Foundation and its executive director, pursuant to the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act. That same day, the Office of Foreign Asset Control in the U.S. Treasury issued a blocking order freezing the financial assets of Global Relief pending an FBI investigation of what relationship, if any, Global Relief might have to the terrorists behind the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks. No forfeiture action has been commenced against the foreign assets. Global Relief, Inc. filed a motion for injunctive relief under F.R.Civ.P. 65. Among other arguments, Global Relief contended that the government had instituted a civil forfeiture in violation of the Eighth Amendment prohibition against excessive fines. The N.D.Ill. district court found that because Global Relief had failed to show the existence of any fine directly imposed by, and payable to, the government, it was unlikely that the organization would succeed in proving that a civil forfeiture had occurred. The N.D.Ill. district court denied Global Relief’s motion for injunctive relief. Global Relief Foundation, Inc. v. O’Neill, 2002 WL 1285829 (N.D. Ill. 2002).

Illinois District Court holds Eighth Amend​ment not applicable to proceeds forfeiture under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(6). (700) Drug tycoon Melvin Logan laundered his proceeds for over a decade before his arrest and conviction. The government sought civil forfeiture of real and personal property traceable to proceeds of his drug activities, pursuant to 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(6). Various relatives and associates of Logan filed claims to the property, alleging, inter alia, that the forfeitures were disproportionate under United States v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998). The district court observed that the forfeiture of proceeds under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(6) is never disproportionate “because the proceeds of drug transactions will necessarily bear a reasonable relation​ship to loss caused by drug trans​actions.” Even if the Bajakajian rule applied in theory, Logan’s use of the properties was closely tied to his “drug dealing in that the properties were the very means by which he laundered the large amounts of cash accumulated by selling drugs over a decade.” Given that Logan caused immense harm during his long criminal career, and that claimants knew or suspected the nature of his activities, the forfeitures were not disproportionate. U.S. v. One Parcel of Real Estate (Martin Luther King Drive), (C.D. Ill. 2000) 2000 WL 330086 (not reported in F.Supp.).

Illinois District Court distinguishes Bajakajian and upholds forfeiture of outbound currency. (700) Claimant was apprehended in O’Hare International Airport boarding a flight to Mexico City. He had $65,000 in cash strapped to his legs and concealed in his pockets, but he declared only $1,000 despite being given the opportunity to amend his declaration. The government sought civil forfeiture of $64,000, but did not prosecute him criminally. The district court found that forfeiture of the entire unreported $64,000 was not an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. Despite the marked similarity of these facts to those of U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998) (holding forfeiture of entire amount of unreported outbound currency to be excessive fine because “grossly disproportional” to gravity of offense), the court found two distinctions to be dispositive in denying claimant’s motion for summary judgment. First, this case involved a civil forfeiture pursuant to 31 U.S.C. §5317(c), while the forfeiture in Bajakajian was a criminal sanction imposed as part of the sentence for conviction of a criminal currency reporting violation. Second, the Bajakajian court relied heavily on the fact that the forfeited funds were not shown to be related to any criminal activity other than the reporting violation itself. Here, by contrast, the government produced some evidence of a nexus between the seized cash and drug trafficking – at least enough of a showing to ward off summary judgment. U.S. v. Funds in the Amount of Sixty Four Thousand Dollars, 1999 WL 135299 (N.D. Ill. 1999) (not reported in F.Supp.).

Illinois District Court discusses excessive fines claim in currency transaction case. (700) Claimant withdrew and deposited money in various bank accounts in amounts less than $10,000. The government alleged these transactions were structured to avoid cur​rency transaction reporting (CTR) requirements, but did not claim the money was derived from an illegal source, and sought civil forfeiture of the funds under 18 U.S.C. §981(a)(1)(A). Claimant sought dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6), Fed. R. Civ. P. The court found that the government sufficiently alleged knowledge of CTR requirements and an intent to avoid them by citing the statute and averring that claimant structured his trans​actions to evade CTR requirements. The court also held that the government need not allege in its pleadings that structured funds are criminally derived in order to defeat a claim that their forfeiture is an excessive fine. The court deferred ruling on whether forfeiture of legiti​mately obtained structured funds violates the Excessive Fines Clause until the government shows that the funds were indeed involved in structured trans​actions, and the claimant “subsequently establishes the legal nature of his funds.” U.S. v. Funds in the Amount of $170,926.00, 985 F.Supp. 810 (N.D. Ill. 1997).xe "U.S. v. Funds in the Amount of $170,926.00, 985 F.Supp. 810 (N.D. Ill. 1997)."
Illinois District Court rejects excessive fines argument raised after disposition of summary judgment motion. (700) Claimants in this civil narcotics forfeiture action litigated and lost a motion for summary judgment. Several weeks later, they filed a new motion arguing that the forfeiture was an excessive fine in violation of the Eighth Amendment. The district court denied the motion, largely in reliance on “the often repeated and basic principle that a party confronted with a potentially dispositive Rule 56 motion cannot hold something back, with the idea that if the motion is lost the party . . . can then reach back and pull an unused arrow from the legal quiver.” The court also found that claimants’ argument failed on its merits. U.S. v. 47 West 644 Route 38, 1998 WL 595504 (N.D. Ill. 1996) (not reported in F.Supp.).xe "U.S. v. 47 West 644 Route 38, 1998 WL 595504 (N.D. Ill. 1996) (not reported in F.Supp.)."
Iowa district court finds that government need not compensate defendant’s wife whose separate property was used as security on loan for other forfeitable property, but reserves judgment until after sale as to whether forfeiture of her interest is constitutionally excessive. (471) (700)  Ryan and Melissa Mathison moved to compel the Government to sell the defendant 504 Court Street property in a civil forfeiture action arising out of a criminal case against Ryan and several other defendants. Toward the conclusion of the trial in the criminal case, Ryan agreed to forfeit the property to the government. The court ordered disposal of 504 Court Street, after deduction of all costs and expenses, including payment of the lien of Pioneer Bank. The Marshal retained a private contractor and closing on the sale was expected shortly. The Mathisons filed the motion in an attempt to protect the interest of Melissa in a property unrelated to the forfeiture action on Prescott Street, which she inherited from her family, and is her sole property. The Bank's mortgage on 504 Court Street also is secured by the Prescott Street property. When the government commenced the forfeiture proceeding against 504 Court Street, the Mathisons stopped making payments on the mortgage, evidently assuming the Marshal would pay off the Bank's mortgage from the proceeds of the sale of the property. In the meantime, the Bank filed a foreclosure action against the Prescott Street property, and the Bank is in the process of selling the property. The Mathisons argued that if the government had proceeded swiftly to forfeit and sell 504 Court Street, the Marshal would have paid the Bank from the proceeds of the sale, and the Bank would have not foreclosed the mortgage against the Prescott Street property, and that the government, by delaying the sale of 504 Court Street, will gain a windfall because the balance on the Bank's mortgage against 504 Court Street, which the Government is required to pay under the forfeiture decree, will be reduced by the proceeds of the Bank's sale of the Prescott Street property. The Mathisons argued the Government is attempting, in effect, to transfer Melissa's equity in Prescott Street to the property forfeited to the Government. The Mathisons asked the court to enter an order compelling the Government to sell 504 Court Street or to order that any amount applied to the Pioneer Bank loan from sale of the Prescott Property be refunded to Melissa. The court said the Mathisons cited no authority authorizing the court to order the government to sell the Court Street property, but it appeared to be moot because, at least according to the Government, the property has been sold. The Mathisons’ alternative argued that Congress did not intend for innocent owners to lose their property. On the record, there was no evidence that Melissa was anything other than “innocent.” However, it also was clear that Melissa was not an “owner” of 504 Court Street. Instead, she owned a different property which she pledged as additional collateral for a bank loan Ryan took out against 504 Court Street. By agreeing to provide this additional collateral to the Bank, Melissa did not become an owner of 504 Court Street. There certainly was no evidence to show she ever has held a leasehold, lien, mortgage, recorded security interest, or valid assignment of an ownership interest in 504 Court Street, as would be required to show ownership under 18 U.S.C. §983(d)(6)(A). On the other hand, under 18 U.S.C. §983(g)(1), a claimant may petition the court to determine whether the forfeiture was constitutionally excessive, which applies to “claimants,” not just to owners. If the Bank sells the Prescott Street property and pays down the mortgage on the property before the government receives the proceeds from the Marshal's sale of 504 Court Street, and if the government receives more from the sale of 504 Court Street than it would have received if it had sold the property before the Bank paid down the mortgage from the sale of the Prescott Street property, then the court would be in a position to consider whether the forfeiture of  504 Court Street property was constitutionally and/or equitably excessive. On the present record, however, the motion was premature, and the claim was denied without prejudice. U.S. v. Real Property Located at 504 Court Street, 2007 WL 4404636 (N.D.Iowa 2007) (December 13, 2007).

Maryland district court holds that forfeiture of residence, boat and trailer was not excessive because combined value was far less than potential federal criminal fine, and potential state fine is irrelevant. (700) The claimant pled guilty in Maryland State court to possession with intent to distribute a large quantity of marijuana. The federal government sought forfeiture of a 22 foot Grady White motor boat and trailer in a complaint alleged it was used to facilitate the distribution of illegal drugs. Because the claimant used the boat and trailer to tend his illegal crop and, once harvested, he processed and packaged the marijuana at his house, he conceded that the property is subject to forfeiture. He opposed forfeiture on a claim that it violated the Eighth Amendment's Excessive Fines Clause. The claimant argued that the combined forfeiture of the residence ($180,000), the boat, and trailer ($45,000), when added to the state forfeitures ($105,020), yield a fine that the Eighth Amendment would consider excessive. In his analysis, he aggregated the state and federal forfeitures (which total $330,020). He then pointed to the maximum penalty he faced under Maryland law, which was four years imprisonment and/or a $5,000 fine. He argued that forfeiture of $330,020 is excessive when measured against a crime that Maryland treats with relative lenity. The court denied his motion, finding that when he was arrested, the claimant was growing 111 marijuana plants that, when harvested, would have yielded approximately 222 pounds of marijuana valued at $532,800. Under the Sentencing Guidelines, the base penalty for growing this quantity of marijuana is between 63 and 150 months imprisonment and a fine up to $2 million. Both Congress and the Sentencing Commission, therefore, consider the wholesale production of marijuana to be a serious offense carrying a substantial sentence. Against this backdrop, a forfeiture of property worth $225,000 was not excessive, particularly when the property was used to commit the crime. Moreover, the court held that the claimant(s analysis was flawed, because when addressing the propriety of a federal forfeiture, the Court looks only to the value of the property forfeited to the federal government, and that the state penalty and the state forfeitures are irrelevant. Accordingly, forfeiture of the claimant(s residence, boat, and trailer was not grossly disproportionate to his offense. U.S. v. One 1995 Grady White 22' Boat, 2006 WL 354622 (D.Md. 2006) (Feb. 16, 2006).

Massachusetts District Court says forfeiture of marital residence “harsh,” but not exces​sive fine. (700) Claimant’s husband ran a taxi service and drug operation from the first floor of the family’s two story residence. The husband committed suicide after authorities discovered his activities. Claimant defended the civil forfeiture action against the home by claiming, inter alia, that it constituted an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. The district court applied a “hybrid instrumentality-proportion​ality” test drawn from the law of several circuits, and concluded that all the factors identified by those courts cut against a finding of excessiveness, except the fact that forfeiture of the residence would have “harsh” consequences on the claimant and her child. The court declined to divide the property into its top and bottom floors to ameliorate the harshness of the judgment. However, it did hold that the government must refund to claimant any money she paid “towards the mortgage, property taxes, or for improvements to the property” following her husband’s death. U.S. v. Real Property … Located at 221 Dana Avenue, 81 F.Supp.2d 182 (D. Mass. 2000).xe "U.S. v. Real Property … Located at 221 Dana Avenue, 81 F.Supp.2d 182 (D. Mass. 2000)."
Michigan district court denied forfeiture sought against Ford Motor Company for importation of auto parts from Canada because it would violate the Eighth Amendment. (700) The U.S. filed a forfeiture action pursuant to 19 U.S.C. §102 and 19 C.F.R. §10.84(e), seeking $12,374,268 from Ford Motor Company, reflecting the value of parts Ford imported into the United States from Canada duty-free pursuant to the Automotive Products Trade Act of 1965 ("APTA"). Ford moved for summary judgment. The court found that Congress enacted APTA to address the significant inefficiency in the automotive industry due to tariffs and other restrictions involving Canadian—United States trade in automotive products. Pursuant to APTA, goods intended for use as original motor-vehicle equipment can be imported into the United States from Canada duty-free, but if a good that entered duty-free under the statute is later diverted to another use, the importer must (1) report such diversion to U.S. Customs, and destroy or export the good or pay the duty owed for the good. Customs auditors concluded that Ford failed to report diverted goods subject to duty and thus owed additional duties for 1992. When Ford refused to pay the penalty assessed, the government instituted forfeiture proceedings. In its motion, Ford contended it had paid the duties owed and that no violation of APTA occurs when an importer fails to accurately report dutiable goods but subsequently pays the duty owed on the unreported goods. Alternatively, Ford argued that Customs failed to provide sufficient notice regarding the methods and technical details of reporting and therefore imposition of a penalty would violate its due process rights, and that Customs' forfeiture violates the Eighth Amendment's Excessive Penalty Clause. The court found that the APTA committee reports reflect Congress' intent only to punish willful violators who ultimately fail to pay the duty due. Congress was not attempting to create more barriers and risks of penalty for the United States auto industry, and did not intend to subject an importer to forfeiture of the goods or their value for miscalculations or other innocent errors. Thus, the Court held that forfeiture was not available under the circumstances of the case. Even if forfeiture were appropriate, the Court concluded that awarding the amount sought in the case would violate the Eighth Amendment. Because Ford had paid the duty owed for its diversions, forfeiture would not compensate the government for any loss in revenue. While some portion of the amount forfeited may compensate the government for its costs to audit and prosecute Ford, its costs could not approximate the more than $12 million sought. Morever, forfeiture of the value of the goods was grossly disproportional to Ford's failure to report some of its diversions, because its only offense was failing to report. Morever, Ford appeared to have filed in good faith and thus did not fall within the category of importers that Congress intended the forfeiture provision to catch, and the harm Ford caused by its failure to report certain diversions was nowhere close to the amount sought in this action. Had Ford's reporting errors gone undetected, at most the government would have been deprived the duty that Ford ultimately paid—$391,804, but the government was seeking more than 31 times that amount. U.S. v. Ford Motor Co., 2006 WL 2056532 (E.D. Mich. 2006) (July 21, 2006). 

Michigan District Court holds that issues of fact precluded determination as to the purported excessiveness of the forfeiture. (700) Airport Customs agents seized six negotiable checks totaling $191,000 and $8,600 in cash from claimant as she attempted to leave the United States without properly reporting them, as required by 31 U.S.C. Section 5316. She had listed $9,000 on the CMIR form. The government filed an in rem action under CAFRA and sought summary judgment. The E.D. Michigan district court found that the government had met its threshold burden of demonstrating that the funds were subject to forfeiture when the record undisputedly established that claimant knowingly transported monetary instruments of value exceeding $10,000 without reporting the amount to Customs agents.  Because she herself committed the act which gave rise to the forfeiture--her failure to report--she could not assert the innocent defense.  The E.D. Michigan district court denied the governments motion because there were issues of fact precluding a determination as a matter of law as to the purported excessiveness of the forfeiture. U.S. v. Six Negotiable Checks in Various Denominations, 2002 WL 1406877 (E.D. Mich. 2002).
New Hampshire district court finds no subject matter jurisdiction to review administrative forfeiture based on Excessive Fines claim. (700) After claimant’s Lexus was seized and administratively forfeited by DEA, he filed an action in district court arguing that the forfeiture was unconstitutionally excessive. In his court action, he did not challenge the statutory authority of the DEA to make a forfeiture determination nor did he challenge DEA’s process, procedure, rationale or exercise of discretion. The government filed a F.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(1) motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Because the claimant did not challenge the procedural safeguards of the administrative forfeiture, the New Hampshire district court found that it had no subject matter jurisdiction to review the administrative forfeiture. Motion to dismiss granted. In re Turmel and a 2002 Lexus IS 300, 2003 WL 21805114 (D.N.H., Aug. 6, 2003).

New Mexico District Court denies motion for summary judgment on Excessive Fines Clause issue. (700) Government moved for summary judgment and sought forfeiture of 1997 Ford Expedition claiming vehicle was used to transport counterfeit U.S. currency in violation of 49 U.S.C. §80302. Claimants raised three defenses: (1) Roberta Archuleta was entitled to an innocent-owner defense, (2) forfeiture of the Expedition would violate the Eighth Amendment Excessive Fines Clause, and (3) there are genuine issues of material fact as to whether the Ford Expedition was connected to any violation of §80302. The district court denied plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment on the Excessive Fines issue, reasoning the value of the contraband was small, there was no evidence of a larger scheme to pass large amounts of counterfeit currency, no information had been presented concerning the costs incurred by the Government in investigating the alleged §80302 violation, and forfeiture of the Ford Expedition worth $30,000 is three times the maximum fine that would be imposed under the Sentencing Guidelines for the offense. U.S. v. One 1997 Ford Expedition Utility Vehicle, 2001 WL 289873 (D.N.M. 2001).

New York district court orders criminal forfeiture because government proved nexus between ill-gotten proceeds and real property and RICO, gambling and bank fraud violations, and forfeiture was not grossly disproportional to the gravity of the defendants' offense. (560, 700, 705) The defendants were charged with bank fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1344, and the indictment contained three forfeiture allegations relating to the charges, seeking forfeiture of property related to the commission of RICO and gambling violations, and specifically identifying the defendants' interests in more than $9 million and several real properties. The government further announced its intention to seek substitute assets in the event that any of the specifically identified assets could not be forfeited. Shortly before the case was given to the jury, defendants agreed to submit to the Court the determination of whether the requisite nexus existed between the properties sought for forfeiture and the charged criminal conduct. The court held that because forfeiture is imposed on a defendant in personam, the Government need not trace the proceeds to specific assets, and because it is intended to be a potent means of punishment, the Government need not provide a precise calculation of the proceeds. Because the evidence presented at trial easily established that defendants accrued that much in the course of their racketeering activities, the government's claim to total proceeds of $5,755,000 was allowed. Also, the defendants used the real properties to conduct loansharking activities and store instrumentalities of their gambling and other criminal activities. Thus, the properties were subject to forfeiture under the RICO statute. Moreover, evidence presented at trial established that the entirety of the properties was used by the defendants to further the affairs of the enterprise, and thus a straight proportionality analysis suggested that the entire properties should be forfeited. Finally, taking all of the Eighth Amendment factors together, the forfeiture was not grossly disproportional to the gravity of the defendants' offense. In addition, with respect to the $5,755,000 in proceeds, the court commented in dicta that it is not even clear that requiring the forfeiture of ill-gotten gains could ever be considered an excessive fine, noting that several courts of appeal have concluded since that forfeiture of proceeds, as opposed to legally-acquired property later involved in a criminal offense, does not implicate Eighth Amendment concerns of disproportionality. The court ultimately issued preliminary orders of forfeiture. U.S. v. Rudaj, 2006 WL 1876664 (S.D.N.Y. 2006) (July 5, 2006).

New York district court finds that 31 U.S.C. Section 5332(c) forfeiture is subject to review under the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment. (700) Three claimants were convicted of concealing more than $10,000 in currency and attempting to transfer that currency out of the United States in violation of 31 U.S.C. Section 5332(a). The government commenced civil forfeiture proceedings against the currency for the entire amount of the currency seized. The Eastern District of New York district court analyzed two questions of first impression: whether forfeiture of the entire amount of seized currency is required under the statutory forfeiture provision and whether such forfeiture is subject to review under the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment. This opinion contains a lengthy analysis of these two issues of the first impression. The Eastern District of New York district court concluded that the Section 5332 (c) forfeiture is subject to review under the Excessive Fines Clause. Further, the district court held that forfeiture of the entire amount of the claimants’ currency would be grossly disproportionate to the gravity of the claimants’ offenses and ordered forfeiture of 50% of each claimant’s currency. U.S. v. $293,316 in U.S. Currency, 2004 WL 2966906 (E.D.N.Y., Dec. 23, 2004).

New York District Court holds forfeiture of $119,984 based on a reporting offense derived from legal source violated Eighth Amendment Excessive Fines Clause. (700) U.S. Customs inspector stopped claimant while attempting to board a flight from the Dominican Republic at Kennedy Airport. Although claimant stated he had only $2,000, a search revealed $119,984 in currency in his possession. Pursuant to a plea agreement, claimant pleaded guilty to willful failure to report $119,984 in currency that was not illegal proceeds. This fact was further contained in the pre-sentence report, which was accepted by the district court in sentencing claimant to two years’ probation and a $2,500 fine. The government thereafter filed a civil forfeiture complaint against the currency pursuant to 31 U.S.C. §5317. The district court granted claimant’s motion for summary judgment holding forfeiture of the entire $119,984 would be “grossly disproportionate” in violation of the Eighth Amendment Excessive Fines Clause because (1) the crime at issue was solely a reporting offense, (2) the currency had a legal source and was to be used for a legal purpose, and (3) the harm to the government was minimal. U.S. v. U.S. Currency in the Amount of $119,984, 129 F. Supp. 2d 471 (E.D.N.Y. 2001). 

New York District Court rejects excessive fines challenge to currency reporting forfeiture. (700) Claimant was stopped after examination of his baggage on an outbound international Swissair flight from New York revealed two handguns. In conversations with Customs agents and on a Customs form, claimant asserted that he possessed approxi​mately $2,000, but a search of his person and luggage turned up $97,253.00. The government sought forfeiture of the money under 31 U.S.C. §5316. Relying on U.S. v. Bajakajian, 118 S.Ct. 2028 (1998), claimant asserted that forfeiture of the entire sum constituted an excessive fine in violation of the Eighth Amendment. The district court found: (1) Claimant was a large-scale heroin trafficker convicted in the District of Maryland; (2) The cash was “directly traceable to [claimant’s] heroin trafficking”; and (3) Neither of claimant’s two conflicting stories about where the money came from was credible. The court held that forfeiture of the proceeds of crime is not punitive and cannot be an excessive fine. Even if this forfeiture were deemed punitive, it was not “grossly disproportional” under Bajakajian. U.S. v. United States Currency in the Sum of $97,253.00, 2000 WL 194683 (E.D. N.Y. 2000) (not reported in F.Supp.).xe "U.S. v. United States Currency in the Sum of $97,253.00, 2000 WL 194683 (E.D. N.Y. 2000) (not reported in F.Supp.)."
New York District Court refuses to give claimant extra time to file claim under Bajakajian. (700) Claimant pleaded guilty to structuring cash transactions for his customers in the garment industry and admitted that the aggregate amount involved was roughly $20 million. The plea agreement stipulated that the funds were the proceeds of lawful activity used for a lawful purpose. As part of his plea agreement, claimant consented to the forfeiture of $210,000 in several bank accounts. When the government filed its civil forfeiture action against the $210,000, claimant nonetheless contested the forfeiture, but failed to file a claim within the ten-day time limit of Supplemental Admiralty Rule C(6). Claimant sought leave of the court to file his claim out of time on the ground that he had only recently become aware of the Supreme Court’s decision in U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321(1998), and wished to make an Eighth Amendment claim that the forfeiture was an excessive fine. The district court denied the request for an enlargement of time, holding: (1) "strict compliance with the time limits of Rule C(6) is typically required;” (2) ignorance of recent legal developments does not constitute “excusable neglect” justifying waiver of the time limit; and (3) the forfeiture of 1% of the total amount involved in the overall structuring scheme did not, in any event, constitute an excessive fine under Bajakajian. U.S. v. Contents of Account Number 901121707, 36 F.Supp.2d 614 (S.D.N.Y. 1998).xe "U.S. v. Contents of Account Number 901121707, 36 F.Supp.2d 614 (S.D.N.Y. 1998)."
New York District Court says Bajakajian gross disproportionality test applies to civil forfeitures. (700). The government seized and sought civil forfeiture, pursuant to 31 U.S.C. §5316(a), of over $359,000 in cash which claimant failed to report when he crossed the U.S – Canadian border. The district court held that the government failed to prove claimant possessed even constructive knowledge of the currency reporting requirements. In addition, the court held, pursuant to U.S. v Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998), that forfeiture of the entire sum was an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. In so doing, the court rejected the government’s contention that the holding of Bajakajian was limited to punitive criminal forfeitures, and thus would not affect civil forfeitures. [Ed. Note: Interestingly, the district court took no account of the fact that claimant here admittedly obtained the seized funds through illegal gambling. In Bajakajian, the Court emphasized that the forfeiture there was “grossly disproportionate” to the offense in large measure because of want of proof that the seized funds were criminally derived.] U.S. v. $359,500, 25 F.Supp.2d 140 (W.D.N.Y. 1998).xe "U.S. v. $359,500, 25 F.Supp.2d 140 (W.D.N.Y. 1998)."
New York District Court abstains from deciding Eighth Amendment claim in §1983 action. (700) Plaintiff filed a civil rights action under 42 U.S.C. §1983 against city employees for the allegedly wrongful seizure and attempted forfeiture of a vehicle under state law. Plaintiff argued, among other things, that the forfeiture constituted an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. The federal district court applied the abstention doctrine of Younger v. Harris, 401 U.S. 37 (1971), and declined to decide the forfeiture question in the context of the §1983 claim. Under Younger, a district court should abstain from deciding an issue if: (1) a state proceeding is pending; (2) an important state interest is implicated; and (3) the plaintiff has an open avenue for review of constitutional claims in the state proceeding. All three conditions were met here. Moreover, abstention would avoid the risk of inconsistent judgments if the Eighth Amendment issue were litigated in both state and federal forums. Mackey v. Property Clerk of the New York City Police Department, 26 F.Supp.2d 585 (S.D.N.Y. 1998).xe "Mackey v. Property Clerk of the New York City Police Department, 26 F.Supp.2d 585 (S.D.N.Y. 1998)."
New York District Court holds claimant waived right to jury trial on source of seized funds. (700) In an action brought pursuant to 31 U.S.C. §5317, the government sought forfeiture of $97,253 seized when claimant attempted to transport the funds out of the country. Claimant asserted that the money was from a legal source, and therefore that forfeiture of the entire amount would be an Eighth Amendment excessive fine under U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998). The trial court scheduled a jury trial on the issue of the source of the money, but the government objected, arguing claimant waived his right to a jury trial by failing to make a timely demand for such a trial. The court agreed. Claimant’s answer did not include a jury demand, no jury demand was made within ten days of service of the answer, and claimant never made a jury demand in any of his pleadings thereafter. The jury was therefore deemed waived and the case was set down for trial to the court. U.S. v. United States Currency in the Sum of Ninety Seven Thousand Two Hundred Fifty-three Dollars, 1999 WL 84122 (E.D. N.Y. 1999) (not reported in F.Supp.).xe "U.S. v. United States Currency in the Sum of Ninety Seven Thousand Two Hundred Fifty-three Dollars, 1999 WL 84122 (E.D. N.Y. 1999) (not reported in F.Supp.)." 

New York District Court finds forfeiture of condo where two small cocaine sales were made, was not "excessive pun​ishment." (700) Relying on U.S. v. Halper, 109 S.Ct. 1892 (1989), district judge Nickerson rejected the govern​ment's argument that labeling the for​feiture as "civil" made it un​necessary to review it under the Eighth Amendment. Un​der Halper, a civil penalty that is suffi​ciently great and suffi​ciently unrelated to any compen​satory or remedial purpose may be deemed a punish​ment for double jeopardy purposes. The pre​sence of both punitive and remedial goals does not in it​self con​vert a civil forfeiture into a criminal one. The ques​tion is "whether the forfeiture serves some alternate pur​pose" and whether the "penalty inflicted is excessive in rela​tion to that alternative purpose." Here a $70,000 condo​minium was forfeited based on two cocaine sales, in​volving a total of 2-1/2 grams. The district court ruled that "forfeiture of [claimant's] $70,000 interest in the condo does not seem a grossly excessive amount for his share of the costs of reme​dying ills occa​sioned by drugs." Thus the forfeiture in this case is a "civil penalty that of​fends neither due process prin​ciples nor the Eighth Amend​ment." U.S. v. Certain Real Property and Premises Known as 38 Whalers Cove Drive, Babylon, New York, 747 F.Supp. 173 (E.D.N.Y. 1990), aff’d 954 F.2d 29 (1992).xe "U.S. v. Certain Real Property and Premises Known as 38 Whalers Cove Drive, Babylon, New York, 747 F.Supp. 173 (E.D.N.Y. 1990), aff’d 954 F.2d 29 (1992)."
New York District Court says forfeiture of resi​dence for small amount of marijuana vio​lates Eighth Amendment. (700) The claimant sold seven grams of marijuana to a confidential in​formant from the house, and a consent search uncov​ered six ounces more. The claimant pled guilty to a misde​meanor in state court. Thereafter the govern​ment filed a forfeiture action against the residence. Rely​ing on U.S. v. Certain Real Property and Premises Known as 38 Whalers Cove Drive, 954 F.2d 29 (2d Cir. 1992), District Judge McAvoy of the Northern District of New York held that loss of the claimant's $69,778.01 equity in his residence ex​ceeded any le​gitimate civil purpose for the forfeiture, and therefore the forfeiture consti​tuted "punishment" within the meaning of the Eighth Amendment. More​over, the punish​ment here was "clearly dispropor​tionate" and there​fore constituted cruel and unusual pun​ishment. U.S. v. Real Property at 835 7th Street, Rensselaer, N.Y., 820 F.Supp. 688 (N.D. N.Y. 1993), reconsideration de​nied in part, granted in part by 832 F.Supp. 43 (N.D.N.Y. 1993).xe "U.S. v. Real Property at 835 7th Street, Rensselaer, N.Y., 820 F.Supp. 688 (N.D.N.Y. 1993), reconsideration de​nied in part, granted in part by 832 F.Supp. 43 (N.D.N.Y. 1993). " 

Pennsylvania District Court refuses to entertain excessive fines motion before trial. (700) Defendant filed a pretrial motion alleging that a criminal forfeiture count in his indictment violated the Excessive Fines Clause because the forfeiture would be “grossly disproportional” to the money laundering offenses alleged in the substantive counts of the indictment. The district court found the Eighth Amendment argument premature, and implied that it might revisit the issue after the government proved a nexus between the property and the money laundering. U.S. v. Bulei, 1990 WL 544958 (E.D. Pa. 1998) (not reported in F.Supp.).xe "U.S. v. Bulei, 1990 WL 544958 (E.D. Pa. 1998) (not reported in F.Supp.)."
Pennsylvania District Court finds Bajakajian exces​sive fines ruling not retroactive. (700) Claimant was stopped in 1990 at the Philadelphia International Airport en route to Brussels with $300,000 cash in his luggage. When he failed to declare the cash, he was arrested and later convicted for violating currency reporting require​ments. The money was civilly forfeited in 1994 after claimant withdrew his claim. Claimant later reasserted his claim, alleging that his attorney had withdrawn the claim without consent. The district court ruled against claimant, finding that the attorney’s testimony that he acted with the claimant’s full knowledge was credible, while claimant’s version of events was not. The court also rejected claimant’s argument that forfeiture of the entire $300,000 was an excessive fine under the holding of U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998). The court held that “decisions are not retroactive as to [final judgments] without substantial justification and without a showing that nonretroactive application would clearly result in egregious injustice.” There being no indication that the Bajakajian court intended for its holding to be retroactive, the district court declined to make it so. U.S. v. $267,522.00 in United States Currency, 1998 WL 546850 (E.D. Pa. 1998) (not reported in F.Supp.).xe "U.S. v. $267,522.00 in United States Currency, 1998 WL 546850 (E.D. Pa. 1998) (not reported in F.Supp.)." 

Rhode Island District Court adopts hybrid excessiveness test to reject Eighth Amend​ment claim. (700) Claimant made three cocaine sales from his residence and stored cocaine in a jar buried in his yard. He challenged the civil forfeiture of the home as an excessive fine violative of the Eighth Amendment. In the absence of controlling First Circuit authority, the district court adopted the hybrid test for excessiveness propounded in U.S. v. 6380 Little Canyon Road, 59 F.3d 974, 982 (9th Cir. 1995). This approach evaluates excessiveness in two stages: (1) whether the property was an instrumentality of the crime, and (2) whether the forfeiture would be grossly dispropor​tionate to the crime. The district court had little difficulty in determining that the residence had a “substantial connection” to the offense, noting the multiple drug sales and concealment of the drugs “literally buried in the earth beside [claimant’s] house.” On the proportionality prong, the court seemed to agree that Eighth Amendment disproportion​ality is only established when “in justice the punishment is more criminal than the crime.” Quoting U.S. v. 829 Calle de Madero, 100 F.3d 734, 738 (10th Cir. 1996). The court considered forfeiture of claimant’s $48,972.31 equity in the property as tantamount to a fine in that amount, and found no gross disproportionality between such a fine and the gravity of the offense. U.S. v. One Parcel of Real Property … Known As 154 Manley Road, 4 F.Supp.2d 65 (D. R.I. 1998).xe "U.S. v. One Parcel of Real Property … Known As 154 Manley Road, 4 F.Supp.2d 65 (D. R.I. 1998)."
South Dakota District Court finds home forfeiture not grossly disproportionate and thus not excessive fine. (700) Claimant, who pled guilty to conspiracy to distribute methamphetamine, used his house to conduct about thirty drug transactions. The government sought civil forfeiture of the residence under 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(7). The district court found that the forfeiture did not violate the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition against excessive fines. Pursuant to U.S. v. Bieri, 68 F.3d 232 (8th Cir 1994), the standard for excessiveness in the Eighth Circuit is “gross disproportionality” measured in terms of “the extent and duration of the criminal conduct, the gravity of the offense weighed against the severity of the criminal sanction, and the value of the property forfeited.” The court noted the lengthy course of criminal conduct in the house, and compared the $105,000 value of the residence to the street value of the drugs sold from the house ($84,000-$123,000) and the maximum possible fine for the offense of conviction ($4 million). In light of these factors, the forfeiture was not excessive. U.S. v. One Parcel of Property Located at 1512 Lark Drive, 998 F.Supp. 935 (D. S.D. 1997).xe "U.S. v. One Parcel of Property Located at 1512 Lark Drive, 998 F.Supp. 935 (D. S.D. 1997)."
Texas District Court rejects excessive fines challenge to forfeiture of real estate. (700) The government filed a civil forfeiture action pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §981(a)(1)(A) against real property purchased with the proceeds of a food stamp fraud. Claimants, the perpetrators of the fraud, claimed that the forfeiture constituted an excessive fine in violation of the Eighth Amendment. The district court disagreed. While reserving the question of whether this forfeiture was punitive at all, and thus subject to the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on excessive fines, the court found that in any event the forfeiture was “not grossly disproportional to the gravity of Claimants’ offenses.” U.S. v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321, 336 (1998). Claimants alleged that forfeiture of the property would cause them an “out of pocket loss” of $90,081 in untainted funds. The court rejected the argument, noting that claimants defrauded the government of $369,314.75, and that claimants’ criminal exposure upon conviction for the offenses they committed included fines of up to $250,000. U.S. v. Real Property Known as 1700 Duncanville Road, 90 F.Supp.2d 737 (N.D. Tex. 2000).xe "U.S. v. Real Property Known as 1700 Duncanville Road, __ F.Supp.2d __, 2000 WL 339165 (N.D. Tex. March 9, 2000) No. 3\:99-CV-0996-T."
Virginia district court finds forfeiture of illegally possessed firearms not an excessive fine. (700) Claimant was convicted in state court of a felony, and federal agents seized his 47 mm cannon. He was charged with being a felon in possession of a firearm, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §924(g)(1). The government brought an in rem civil forfeiture action against the guns pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §924(d). Claimant asserted that the forfeiture constituted an excessive fine in violation of the Eighth Amendment. The district court disagreed., finding that given that the forfeited weapons were the very objects he was prohibited by law from ever possessing following his state felony conviction, “there can be no gross disproportionality between the gravity of [claimant’s] offense and the forfeiture.” U.S. v. 47 MM Cannon, 95 F.Supp.2d 545 (E.D.Va. 2000)
Virgin Islands district court reduces $120,856 seizure to $7,500 based on Excessive Fines Clause. (700) Upon arriving in the U.S. Virgin Islands, claimant did not declare to customs officials that he was transporting more than $10,000 in U.S. currency. However, a customs officer inspected him and discovered $120,856 in U.S. currency hidden in the lining of his suitcase. He was arrested and the currency was seized. Claimant filed a F.R.Civ.P. 12 (c) motion to dismiss the government’s forfeiture action, arguing that the action constituted a constitutional violation of the Excessive Fines Clause due to the amount of the forfeiture. The Virgin Islands district court treated the motion as a motion for summary judgment. Analyzing the motion under U.S. v. Bajakajian, the district court found that the civil forfeiture of the full amount of all of the seized currency was unconstitutionally excessive and reduced the forfeiture to $7,500. U.S. v. One Hundred and Twenty Thousand Eight Hundred and Fifty Six Dollars in United States Currency More or Less, 2005 WL 15460 (D.Virgin Islands, Jan. 2, 2005).

Virgin Islands District Court finds forfeiture of house where marijuana grown not excessive fine. (700) Claimant owned a dwelling in and around which government agents repeatedly found marijuana growing. Claimant and several tenants of the building were arrested for marijuana cultivation and trafficking. Charges against claimant were ultimately drop​ped, but one of the tenants pled guilty and the government sought civil forfeiture of the house. The district court found that the forfeiture was not an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. First, the government was entitled to forfeit the house even though claimant was not herself convicted of any crime. Second, the $155,000 value of the house was not large by comparison to the potential fine of up to $2 million which could have been imposed had claimant been prosecuted under federal law. Third, the fact that the tenant who pled guilty was subject to a fine of only $3,000 to $30,000 under the Federal Sentencing Guidelines is not germane, because he pled guilty to cultivating a quantity of marijuana far smaller than the total quantity actually found on the premises. Finally, while the government did not experience any direct harm from this marijuana growing operation, illegal drug use takes a toll on society as a whole. U.S. v. The Premises and Real Property Located at No. 162-A, 199 WL 395372 (D. V.I. 1999) (not reported in F.Supp.).xe "U.S. v. The Premises and Real Property Located at No. 162-A, 199 WL 395372 (D. V.I. 1999) (not reported in F.Supp.)."
Washington District Court says denial of tax credit for forfeiture was not excessive fine. (700) Albert King and his wife ran a large marijuana growing operation in Eastern Wash​ington. Federal agents seized 5,400 marijuana plants, 2,000 acres of land, five pieces of farm equipment and $27,000 in cash. King later surrendered an additional $636,940 in cash which he admitted was proceeds of his drug activities. He pled guilty to drug trafficking and tax evasion, and was sentenced to prison. As part of the plea, King agreed to forfeit the $636,940 and other property, and to file corrected tax returns reflecting his drug income for 1989-91. He did file the corrected returns, along with a check for $410,383.34 for delinquent taxes. However, the Kings then filed suit claiming that the forfeited $636,940 should be treated either as a prepayment tax credit or a loss deduction. The district court, citing Woods v. U.S., 863 F.2d 417 (5th Cir. 1989), disagreed and found that proceeds of drug trafficking are taxable even though forfeited, and that no loss deduction is allowed because “of public policy against drug trafficking.” Finally, the district court held that the forfeiture of drug proceeds cannot be an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. King v. U.S., 949 F.Supp. 787 (E.D. Wash. 1996).xe "King v. U.S., 949 F.Supp. 787 (E.D. Wash. 1996)."
Washington District Court upholds fines for food stamp fraud against excessiveness challenge. (700) Plaintiffs, owners of three 7-11 convenience stores, challenged fines of $13,200 imposed when their employees illegally trafficked in food stamps. They argued that the fines were so great compared to their culpability or the government’s loss that the penalty violated the Excessive Fines Clause. The district court disagreed. The government has a strong interest in preventing the misuse of food stamps. The fines imposed were within the limits set by Congress and “could reasonably be deemed necessary to deter trafficking.” Likewise, the fines cannot be said to be “grossly dispropor​tionate” to the nature and extent of plaintiffs’ culpability. Vasudeva v. U.S., 3 F.Supp. 1138 (W.D. Wash. 1998).xe "Vasudeva v. U.S., 3 F.Supp. 1138 (W.D. Wash. 1998)."
Claims Court asserts jurisdiction over improper exaction and just compensation claims by seller of forfeited airplane. (700) Plaintiff, Vereda, Ltda., was a Colombian limited partnership that acted as broker for another Colombian partnership (Aero​expresso) to acquire an airplane. Vereda purchased a plane in the U.S. and resold it to Aeroexpresso, on terms that left Vereda holding a mortgage interest in the airplane for one year. The DEA seized the airplane because it was intended to be used to smuggle drugs. Aeroexpresso filed an untimely claim and cost bond, and both Vereda and Aero​expresso filed unsuccessful petitions for remission with the DEA. Thereafter, Aero​expresso and the U.S. aircraft broker involved in the deal filed unsuccessful actions in federal district court for return of the aircraft on constitutional grounds. Vereda then filed this complaint in the U.S. Court of Federal Claims alleging compensable monetary claims under the Tucker Act. Despite copious authority holding that the Claims Court lacks jurisdiction to entertain collateral attacks on administrative forfeitures or on the judgments of district courts in forfeiture cases, the court held it could entertain Vereda’s complaint of an improper exaction. The relief sought was monetary, not equitable, and Claims Court found that Vereda’s claim of improper notice was not foreclosed by the district court’s prior determination that notice had been given to Vereda’s lawyer. The Claims Court also held it could entertain the claim that the forfeiture was a taking without just compensation in violation of the Fifth Amendment. However, the Claims Court lacked jurisdiction to consider Vereda’s contention that the forfeiture constituted an excessive fine because the Eighth Amendment is not a money-mandating provision. Vereda, Ltda. v. U.S., 41 Fed. Cl. 495 (Fed. Cl. 1998).xe "Vereda, Ltda. v. U.S., 41 Fed. Cl. 495 (Fed. Cl. 1998)."
Court of Claims holds forfeiture of contractual rights for fraud under 28 U.S.C. §2514 is punishment. (700) Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §2514, a claim against the United States shall be forfeited if the claimant commits fraud against the U.S. Once a government contract has been tainted by fraud, the contractor may not recover for any claim arising under the contract, even for claims not directly related to the fraud. Little v. U.S., 138 Ct.Cl. 773, 778, 152 F.Supp. 84, 87 (1957). Here, a concessionaire defrauded the National Park Service (NPS) by submitting false reports and bribing an NPS official. The NPS revoked the concession contract. The concessionaire sued, seeking a variety of contractual remedies, but the forfeiture provision of §2514 barred recovery. The concessionaire then claimed that revocation of the con​tract and nullification of all contractual remedies was an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. The Court of Claims agreed that §2514 is punitive for Eighth Amendment purposes because “the value of the forfeit​ure is not restricted or even linked to the value of the loss sustained by the government,” and because the legis​lative purpose of the statute was to punish fraud. How​ever, given the duration and extent of the fraud here, forfeiture of all contractual rights was not constitu​tionally excessive. Barren Island Marina, Inc. v. U.S., 44 Fed.Cl. 252 (Ct.Cl. 1999).xe "Barren Island Marina, Inc. v. U.S., 44 Fed.Cl. 252 (Ct.Cl. 1999)."
Court of Claims says it lacks subject matter jurisdiction over challenge to forfeitures. (700) Plaintiff pled guilty to marijuana trafficking and did not contest associated 1991 judicial and administrative forfeitures of $201,817 in cash, a motor home, and other property. In 1996 he brought an action in the U.S. Court of Federal Claims seeking return of all his property. The court found that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction: (1) The Tucker Act, 28 U.S.C. §1491(a)(1), creates a cause of action where a plaintiff seeks payment under a “money-mandating” provision of the constitution, a statute, or a regulation. Plaintiff alleged the forfeitures here violated the Double Jeopardy and Takings Clauses of the 5th Amendment, and the Excessive Fines Clause of the 8th Amendment, none of which are “money mandating.” (2) Plaintiff alleged that the forfeitures were “illegal exactions,” but this claim could not be maintained while two valid forfeiture judgments were extant. A precondi​tion to establishing such a claim is reversal of the judgments. (3) Plaintiff’s claims are barred by res judicata because of the prior adjudication of the judicial and administrative forfeitures. Bernaugh v. U.S., 38 Fed.Cl. 538 (Ct.Cl. 1997).xe "Bernaugh v. U.S., 38 Fed.Cl. 538 (Ct.Cl. 1997)."
Tax Court says taxing forfeited funds while refusing a loss deduction was not double jeopardy. (700) Defendant was convicted of structuring deposits of roughly $1 million in cash in violation of 31 U.S.C. §§5324(3) and 5322(a). Over $230,000 was criminally forfeited. Defendant sought to deduct the $230,000 from his tax liability under Section 165(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Tax Court ruled that he was entitled to no deduction. Moreover, the court held that taxing the forfeited funds while refusing a deduction did not violate the Double Jeopardy Clause nor the Excessive Fines Clause. Murillo v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, T.C. Memo. 1998-13 (U.S. Tax Ct. 1998) No. 18163-96.xe "Murillo v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, T.C. Memo. 1998-13 (U.S. Tax Ct. 1998) No. 18163-96."
Student author endorses excessiveness test first propounded by Department of Justice. (700) This article analyzes five tests of whether a financial penalty is an excessive fine under the Eighth Amendment. Author Kristen Michelle Caione critiques four tests employed by courts: (1) the instrumentality test (relationship between property and offense); (2) the proportionality test (balancing harshness of forfeiture against gravity of offense); (3) the Zumirez multi-factor test (from U.S. v. Zumirez, 845 F.Supp. 725 (C.D. Cal. 1994), combining aspects of both the instrumentality and proportionality tests); and (4) the threshold/two-prong test (addressing instrumentality as threshold issue, and conducting proportionality review only where property is instrumentality of offense). Caione prefers to all these a test suggested in the Justice Department Manual: “[A] The criminal activity involving the property has been sufficiently extensive in terms of time and/or spatial use of the property; or [B] the role of the property was integral or indispensable to the commission of the crime(s) in question; or [C] the particular property was deliberately selected to secure a special advantage in the commission of the crime(s).” Kristen Michelle Caione, When Does In Rem Civil Forfeiture Under 21 U.S.C. §881(A)(7) Constitute An Excessive Fine?: An Overview and An Attempt to Set Forth A Uniform Standard, 47 Syracuse L. Rev. 1093 (1997).xe "Caione, Kristen Michelle, When Does In Rem Civil Forfeiture Under 21 U.S.C. § 881(A)(7) Constitute An Excessive Fine?\: An Overview and An Attempt to Set Forth A Uniform Standard, 47 Syracuse L. Rev. 1093 (1997)." 

Author suggests threshold test for applying excessive fines analysis to forfeiture cases. (700) This article analyzes the Supreme Court’s decision in Bennis v. Michigan, 516 U.S. 442, 116 S.Ct. 994 (1997) (upholding against a due process challenge the forfeiture of vehicle in which husband received prostitution services against innocent owner claim of his wife). The Court in Bennis relied on the historical “guilty property” fiction, and its finding that forfeiture of the car was not punishment of Mrs. Bennis, to find no due process violation in Michigan’s taking of Mrs. Bennis’ share of the car. Author Eric N. Berquist urges application of Eighth Amendment excessive fines analysis to “innocent owner” cases. Since excessiveness can only be measured by investigating “the relationship between the owner, the property, and the misuse [of the property],” Berquist suggests that a court must identify a “point of decision” at which the allegedly innocent claimant chose to permit the use of his property that rendered it forfeitable. If no such point exists, the forfeiture would be excessive. If such a point exists, the court should consider the extent of the claimant’s culpability, or at least negligence, in determining whether the forfeiture was excessive. Eric Berquist, Note: Statutory In Rem Civil Forfeiture, the Punishment of Innocent Owners, and the Excessive Fines Clause: An Analysis of Bennis v. Michigan, 76 Neb. L. Rev. 155 (1997).xe "Eric Berquist, Note\: Statutory In Rem Civil Forfeiture, the Punishment of Innocent Owners, and the Excessive Fines Clause\: An Analysis of Bennis v. Michigan, 76 Neb. L. Rev. 155 (1997)." 

Author contends test for excessiveness of forfeitures should be nexus, not proportion​ality. (700) In this law review comment, student author Alan Nicgorski addresses the proper standard for determining whether civil for​feitures violate the Eighth Amendment prohibition against excessive fines. In Austin v. United States, 113 S.Ct. 2801 (1993), the Supreme Court held that civil forfeitures are subject to scrutiny for excessiveness under the Eighth Amendment; however, the Court expressly left the development of a test for constitutional excessiveness to the lower federal courts. Mr. Nicgorski reviews the history of civil forfeiture in the U.S. and England, and the development of Eighth Amendment excessive fines doctrine through the Austin decision. He then discusses the various approaches taken by the federal appellate courts in working out the high court’s mandate. The article disapproves of including proportionality analysis in an Eighth Amendment excessiveness test, as do a number of circuits, notably the Ninth, U.S. v. 6380 Little Canyon Road, 59 F.3d 974 (9th Cir, 1995), and the Second, U.S. v. Milbrand, 58 F.3d 841 (2d Cir. 1995). Rather, the author favors a pure instrumentality test, focusing on the nexus between the forfeited property and the criminal conduct, akin to that espoused by Justice Scalia in his Austin dissent, and by the Fourth Circuit in U.S. v. Chandler, 36 F.3d 358 (4th Cir. 1994). Alan Nicgorski, Comment: The Continuing Saga of Civil Forfeiture, the “War on Drugs,” and the Constitution: Determining the Constitutional Excessiveness of Civil Forfeitures, 91 Nw. U. L. Rev. 374 (1996).
